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LAFEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEEBE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ol dulyl:l —T-=F -—ZT--F —T-— —T-TE
CIERO0N  RVB000  RMB'O00  RMB'O0O  RMB'000
INGLES ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Revenue and Profit WA RBA
Revenue WA 680,276 585,551 626,624 572,643 816,665
Profit before taxation BRI R 38,872 32,669 32,088 96,676 42 846
Income tax expense BT (7,739) (3,812 (1,997) (84,215) (33,512)
Profit for the year EREH 31,133 28,857 30,091 12,461 9,334
Profit/(loss) attributable to: UTATEERR/(E8)
Equity shareholders of the Company ARFERRR 31,051 28,897 30,231 12,142 15,824
Non-controlling interests R 82 (40) (140) 319 (6,490)
Dividend per ordinary share BREARRS
—Final —RE HK1.1
centsi{l - - - -
- Special final — Rl R HK1.3
centsi{l - - - -
Assets and Liabilities BEREE
Non-current assets EREEE 317,586 433,540 395,404 364,695 541,483
Current assets MEEE 1,207,649 1,054,003 979,717 966,352 936,626
Current liabilties nEAE (1,071,955)  (1,021,785)  (872,547)  (896919) (780,812
Non-current liabilities EREasE (141,542)  (164,495)  (213320)  (166,763)  (499,156)
Net assets BEFE 311,738 301,263 289,254 267,365 198,141
Equity attributable to: AT AT R
Equity shareholders of the Company ARREERR 312,344 301,951 289,902 267,873 261,244
Non-controlling interests RS (606) (688) (648) (508) (63,109)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”)
of Boer Power Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Boer
Power”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | report to
shareholders the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “year”).

In 2024, global economic development presents both
opportunities and challenges. Although the global economy
is gradually recovering, factors such as economic policy
uncertainties, geopolitical tensions, and trade frictions continue to
constrain stable growth. Despite the complex and ever-changing
external environment, China’s economy has remained generally
stable, showing steady progress. According to data from the
National Bureau of Statistics, the country’s gross domestic
product (GDP) for the year reached approximately RMB135
trillion, representing a 5.0% year-on-year growth. Nationwide
fixed asset investment (excluding rural households) exceeded
RMB51 trillion, marking a 3.2% year-on-year increase. Although
the total profit of industrial enterprises above a designated size
amounted to approximately RMB7.4 trillion, reflecting a 3.3%
decline year-on-year, the timely introduction of a package of
incremental policies has facilitated a steady recovery in industrial
production and a gradual improvement in profitability. Amid the
current macroeconomic environment, the Group has precisely
navigated market dynamics, continuously optimized operational
efficiency, and implemented refined management practices to
drive cost reduction and efficiency enhancement strategies,
laying a solid foundation for sustainable development. Leveraging
our extensive industry experience and technological advantages,
the Group has fully utilized our core competitiveness, expanded
our diversified customer base, and promoted steady business
growth.

During the year, the Group adhered to a stable and efficient
business strategy, advancing various operations in an orderly
manner and achieving solid overall performance. Benefiting from
the gradual recovery of market demand, the Group continued
to expand our business scale, recording revenue of RMB680.3
million, representing a year-on-year growth of 16.2%. At the
same time, the Group consistently enhanced operational
efficiency through refined management and strengthened cost
control capabilities. During the year, the Group’s gross profit
margin rose to 29.0%, an increase of 0.6 percentage points
year-on-year, while the gross profit reached RMB197.5 million,
achieving a year-on-year growth of 19.0%. The Group also
implemented rigorous internal control standards and regulatory
processes to ensure efficient operations, profit from operations
and profit before taxation for the Group recorded RMB61.8
million (2023: RMB63.0 million) and RMB38.9 million (2023:
RMB32.7 million), respectively. The Group’s net profit for the
year reached RMB31.1 million (2023: RMB28.9 million), reflecting
a year-on-year increase of 7.9%. During the year, the Group
maintained a healthy status in trade receivables and payables,
inventory levels, and debt structure, while achieving positive
operating cash flow for the ninth consecutive year.

AABRERES(EFHg(ESES)HARE
ERBEEHNIERABREAFT((ARANK[BE
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“MFE+-_A=t+—HItt+-@EA(=ZE=-/©m
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—EoNE - RREATEREENBREY
o BERREERS AR - BEARETR
EM  WEEAERRE R RS ERS SR
2B REENRERRE - BANIES
WSS EhEEEREETTE  BhA

BRZEARK1BEET - FHLIERS.0% - &
HEETEERE(TERP)BARKIERE
7t RALER32% - BE T _MNF2EBRE
NETHXGXBERMNBLABEOARKTABE
T RETE33%  BEE—EBFEERER
RHEE  ITELEZREEFEQT - Ma
TEIREREE - P ERMZERE  ARER
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REMITRBEREARMES - ARERDHE
BEROBEFEN  HERBZTIEERRRE
BRI ER -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)
FREHRE @

Based on our strong financial performance and confidence
in future development, the Board is pleased to announce the
resumption of dividend distribution for the year and recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.1 cents per ordinary share
and a special final dividend of HK1.3 cents per ordinary share as
a gesture of gratitude for the long-term support and trust of our
shareholders. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to enhance
financial quality and implement effective strategic adjustments.
While ensuring investment in research and development as well
as strategic expansion, the Group will maintain strict cost control
and diversify revenue streams to sustain our dividend policy,
striving to balance growth momentum with shareholder interests.

As a leading provider of high-end integrated power distribution
systems and solutions, the Group leverages nearly 40 years of
technical expertise and industry leadership to offer an exclusive
one-stop Intelligent Electrical Management Solutions (“IEM
Solutions”). The Group’s proprietary big data platform, “Cloud
Smart,” utilizes modern communication and internet technologies
to deliver a comprehensive IEM Solutions, integrating hardware
systems, customized operating systems, software, and online
and offline operation and maintenance services. This solution
meets the high standards of clients across industries such
as manufacturing, telecommunications and data centers,
and infrastructure, effectively reducing operational costs and
enhancing industry competitiveness. Simultaneously, the
Group actively invests in research and innovation, continuously
accelerating technological iteration and scenario adaptation of
the IEM Solutions, aiming to develop more efficient and intelligent
energy management solutions that contribute to the growth of
next-generation power systems.

Digital transformation has become a key driver of global
economic growth and a transformative force reshaping global
value chains in the post-pandemic era. Data centers, as the
computing backbone of digital transformation, handle massive
computational tasks, leading to continuous expansion and rising
energy consumption. As of the third quarter of 2024, the number
of active data center racks has increased by over 100% year-
on-year. Looking ahead to 2025, the National Data Bureau will
vigorously implement the “Eastern Data, Western Computing”
initiative, accelerating the construction of a nationwide integrated
computing power grid. By the end of 2025, newly added
computing power in national hub regions is expected to account
for over 60% of the country’s total increase. The large-scale
expansion of data center infrastructure will drive further energy
consumption growth, creating an urgent demand for intelligent
power distribution management solutions and related services.
Drawing on our extensive experience in intelligent power
management, the Group will continue to optimize our “One-Stop
Data Center Solution” to meet the diverse power management
needs of the market. As data centers rapidly evolve toward higher
efficiency and greater integration, the importance of intelligent
electrical management is becoming increasingly prominent.
The Group, with our advanced intelligent electrical distribution
solutions and innovation capabilities, will seize opportunities in
the power industry, strengthen our leading market position, and
create long-term value for our clients.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
—“EPUFFEH  Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)
FREHRE @

As global climate change challenges become increasingly
severe, the “dual carbon” goals of carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality have emerged, making energy storage technology
a crucial pathway for achieving these targets and advancing
the energy transition. Energy storage plays a key role in
balancing the volatility of renewable energy and enhancing the
flexibility of power grid dispatching. The rapid development
of new energy storage technologies is driving efficient energy
utilization and consumption while effectively regulating grid
load, significantly improving the security and resilience of power
systems. Leveraging our leading “One-Stop Intelligent Power
Solution”, the Group has built highly trusted partnerships with
industrial sector clients. Building on this foundation, the Group
successfully expanded our business into the telecommunications
and data center sectors during the year, offering customized,
high-efficiency intelligent power solutions to precisely meet
the diverse needs of our clients. The booming development of
energy storage technologies and their applications has injected
new momentum into the Group’s business growth. The Group
will seize these opportunities to further expand market coverage
and achieve deeper breakthroughs through technological
innovation, helping clients achieve both industrial development
and environmental quality goals while actively contributing to
ecological sustainability and high-quality social development.

With the accelerating wave of urbanization, the critical role of
municipal infrastructure construction has become increasingly
prominent, serving as a driving force for urban development.
As essential components of municipal infrastructure, rail transit
and wastewater treatment are experiencing growing demand
alongside rapid urbanization, raising higher requirements for
technological innovation and efficient management in the
intelligent electrical distribution sector. This trend presents
vast growth opportunities for the Group’s related businesses.
During the year, the Group leveraged our nearly exclusive
intelligent electrical distribution systems to provide efficient
energy management services for numerous key municipal
projects, ensuring the smooth implementation of critical public
infrastructure initiatives. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to focus on the intelligent and low-carbon development
trends in municipal infrastructure, driving the optimization of
intelligent power solutions through technological innovation,
further consolidating our industry leadership, and maintaining
our benchmark position. At the same time, the Group remains
firmly committed to our sustainable development strategy,
utilizing technological advantages to help clients optimize energy
management efficiency and achieve low-carbon transformation,
laying a solid foundation for long-term social progress in green
transformation and public well-being. Additionally, the Group
upholds a customer-first business philosophy, striving to deliver
diversified and customized intelligent solutions while building a
comprehensive, high-quality service system to enhance customer
satisfaction. During the year, the Group continued serving the
high-end market, establishing long-term and close partnerships
with numerous Fortune Global 500 companies and internationally
renowned enterprises. These stable and expanding business
relationships have laid a solid foundation for the Group’s
sustained performance and growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)
FREHRE @

Looking at the global market, while the global economy shows
signs of recovery, it remains affected by multiple uncertainties.
Our Group has actively adjusted our strategies to navigate this
complex environment, leveraging an entrepreneurial spirit and
innovative thinking to expand into global markets and drive
steady growth in overseas business. The advancement of the
“Belt and Road Initiative” has continuously stimulated demand
for power infrastructure construction in participating countries,
opening up new pathways for the power industry’s international
expansion. Riding on the momentum of this initiative, our Group
has closely followed national strategic directives, effectively
integrated resources, and successfully entered multiple
emerging markets. By providing localized power distribution
products, services, and solutions, we have not only supported
our customers but also accelerated the internationalization of
our business, making overseas revenue a key growth driver this
year. Meanwhile, the demand for power equipment upgrades
in Europe is steadily rising, coupled with a growing emphasis
on smart product upgrades and green transformation. These
trends present numerous cooperation opportunities for our
Group. Moving forward, we will continue our global expansion
efforts, focusing on the “Belt and Road” markets while enhancing
localized service capabilities in Europe to strengthen our leading
industry position. Despite the ongoing uncertainty in the global
business environment, our Group remains committed to progress
and innovation, proactively responding to market changes
through technological advancements and strategic business
development to ensure long-term sustainability.

Reflecting on 2024, the global economy faced fluctuations amid
multiple challenges but has demonstrated strong resilience and
is gradually returning to a recovery trajectory. Our Group has
closely monitored market dynamics, actively adapted to industry
changes, and flexibly adjusted business strategies. Through
prudent and efficient corporate governance, we have maintained
healthy cash flow levels and a robust asset-liability structure
across all business segments. At the same time, we continue
to uphold a customer-centric approach, precisely addressing
diverse customer needs and striving to create exceptional
experiences through high-quality products and services. Looking
ahead to 2025, amid the accelerated transformation of the
global energy sector and the ongoing development of new
power systems, our Group will fully leverage our technological
expertise and extensive industry experience. We will actively
align with national policies such as the “Dual Carbon” and the
“Belt and Road Initiative”, seizing growth opportunities in power
grid intelligence, communications and data centers, municipal
infrastructure, and overseas markets. By accelerating our
international expansion, we aim to enhance our global market
share and support the Group’s long-term sustainable growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued)
FREHRE @

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
gratitude to every dedicated and ambitious employee of the
Group. | also sincerely thank our shareholders, investors, long-
term customers, and business partners for their trust and
support over the years. Looking forward, we will remain true to
our vision, pursue excellence, actively drive business growth, and
stay committed to creating sustainable long-term value for our
shareholders, ensuring that their steadfast support is met with
tangible retumns.

Qian Yixiang
Chairman

24 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWR S Hh

MARKET REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy faced both opportunities and
challenges. During the year, the global economy gradually
recovered, and inflationary pressures continued to decline.
However, economic policy uncertainties, geopolitical tensions,
and global trade frictions continued to disrupt economic stability.
In response to increasing external pressures and growing internal
challenges, the Chinese government remained composed
and implemented comprehensive policies, ensuring overall
economic stability with steady progress. According to preliminary
estimates, China’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in 2024
reached approximately RMB135 ftrillion, reflecting a year-on-
year growth of 5.0%. National fixed asset investment (excluding
rural households) exceeded RMB51 trillion, an increase of 3.2%
year-on-year. Although the total profit of industrial enterprises
above a designated size nationwide amounted to approximately
RMB?7 .4 trillion in 2024, marking a 3.3% year-on-year decline, the
timely introduction of a series of incremental policies supported
a continued recovery in industrial enterprise performance,
contributing to the stable development of the Group’s business.

Electricity is at the core of modern society and economic
operations. As China’s economy maintained steady growth
in 2024, stable production growth across industries drove a
continuous increase in electricity demand from various sectors
and urban and rural residents. According to data released by
the National Energy Administration, China’s total electricity
consumption in 2024 reached 9,852.1 billion kilowatt-hours
(kWh), representing a year-on-year increase of 6.8%. Among
this, power generation from large-scale industrial enterprises
amounted to 9,418.1 billion kWh. Additionally, the country’s
total installed power generation capacity reached approximately
3.35 billion kilowatts, marking a 14.6% year-on-year growth.
In response, State Grid Corporation of China (“State Grid”)
significantly increased its investment in power grid infrastructure,
with annual investments exceeding RMB600 billion for the first
time during the year, accelerating the high-quality development
of the power grid. Meanwhile, China Southern Power Grid Co.,
Ltd. (“Southern Grid”) allocated RMB173 billion in fixed asset
investments in 2024, a 23.5% year-on-year increase. This
marks the fourth consecutive year that its investment scale has
remained above RMB125 billion, covering areas such as power
grid construction and new energy storage. The growing electricity
demand is driving power grid companies to expand their
investment in grid infrastructure, supporting the development of a
new power system and creating vast opportunities for intelligent
distribution network construction and investment. As a key driver
of intelligent grid development, digital power grids enhance
grid stability and security, enabling intelligent management and
efficient operation of the power system. This solid foundation for
the industry’s sustainable development also presents long-term
growth momentum for the Group’s business expansion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)

EEEFWRED T

The world is undergoing unprecedented changes at an
accelerated pace. As a key driver of global economic recovery,
the digital economy is injecting innovative momentum into the
power industry and paving the way for high-quality development.
Among these advancements, the rapid growth of computing
power is providing strong support for the expansion of the digital
economy. According to data from the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology, the number of standard server racks
in operational computing power centers nationwide exceeded
8.8 million in 2024, representing a 16.5% increase compared
to the end of 2023. This highlights the accelerated deployment
of computing infrastructure, laying a solid foundation for the
thriving digital economy. Furthermore, to achieve the grand vision
of “integrating massive data, benefiting diverse industries, and
fostering a digital future”, the National Development and Reform
Commission, along with two other government departments,
jointly issued the “National Data Infrastructure Development
Guidelines”. This policy outlines the primary goal of establishing
a fundamental framework for national data infrastructure
construction and operation by 2029, marking the beginning of
a new wave of data-centric digital infrastructure deployment
in China. The rapid growth of the digital economy is setting
higher standards for data center infrastructure and computing
power. Data centers are expected to play a more active role
within the power ecosystem, presenting new opportunities for
the power industry. As a critical enabler of these developments,
the power industry is supporting the efficient operation of data
centers. To meet the rising demand for computing power, the
industry is transitioning toward greater efficiency, intelligence,
and sustainability. By continuously advancing research and
development in intelligent electrical management systems, the
industry aims to enhance power stability for data centers and
improve operational efficiency, creating vast opportunities for the
Group’s business growth.

As the pace of the global energy transition accelerates, energy
storage is becoming increasingly vital in modern intelligent
grids, ensuring stable energy supply, efficient conversion, and
sustainable recycling. The rapid advancement of new energy
storage technologies not only enhances energy efficiency and
consumption but also helps balance and stabilize grid loads,
significantly improving the security and resilience of power
systems. By the end of 2024, China’s total installed power
storage capacity exceeded 100 GW for the first time, reaching
137.9 GW. The installed capacity of new energy storage reached
78.3 GW/184.2 GWh, with power and energy capacity increasing
by 126.5% and 147.5% year-on-year, respectively, highlighting
the industry’s robust growth momentum. At the same time,
favourable policy signals continue to emerge, providing strong
support for technological innovation and large-scale application
of new energy storage solutions. This ongoing policy support
is further driving the power industry toward high-end, intelligent
development, creating promising growth opportunities for the
Group’s business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EEEFWRED T

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy progressed amid fluctuations.
Despite multiple challenges, including geopolitical tensions and
economic policy uncertainties, inflationary pressures continued to
ease, driving a gradual recovery in market demand and benefiting
the Group’s business growth. During the year, the Group closely
monitored industry trends, actively identified market dynamics,
and ensured the timely capture of market opportunities while
effectively addressing potential challenges. At the same time,
the Group remained committed to efficient business strategies
and high-quality operations. By optimizing resource allocation,
the Group improved overall operational efficiency, maintained
ample cash flow, and ensured smooth business operations.
Leveraging our leading technological advantages and extensive
industry experience, the Group remained dedicated to intelligent
electrical management solutions, intelligent power supply,
and energy storage businesses. The Group focused on key
sectors and markets, including telecommunications and data
centers, municipal infrastructure, and overseas power projects,
achieving solid business performance despite a complex and
evolving business environment. During the year, the Group
recorded revenue of RMB680.3 million (2023: RMB585.6 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 16.2%. Additionally, the
Group strategically seized market opportunities, adopted efficient
operational strategies, and implemented meticulous cost control,
the gross profit margin increased by 0.6 percentage points year-
on-year, reaching 29.0% (2023: 28.4%). Gross profit for the year
reached RMB197.5 million (2023: RMB166.0 million), achieving a
year-on-year growth of 19.0%. Profit from operations and profit
before taxation for the Group recorded RMB61.8 million (2023:
RMB63.0 million) and RMB38.9 million (2023: RMB32.7 million),
respectively. The Group’s net profit for the year also increased,
reaching RMB31.1 million (2023: RMB28.9 million), representing
a year-on-year growth of 7.9%.

Amid the current complex and ever-changing macroeconomic
environment, the Group adheres to a stable and efficient
operational strategy. Through meticulous financial management
and strategic planning, the Group ensures the steady operation
of our businesses. During the year, the Group placed great
emphasis on maintaining a healthy cash flow, continuously
optimizing capital allocation, improving capital utilization efficiency,
and carefully evaluating project progress. By strategically
planning the pace of fund recovery, the Group ensured that trade
receivables, trade payables, and inventory levels remained in a
healthy state. Additionally, the Group upheld stringent internal
control policies and measures, prudently managing debt levels
and optimizing our debt structure. This included further reducing
bank borrowings during the year, effectively lowering financial
costs. Notably, the Group has maintained positive operating cash
flow for nine consecutive years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)

EEEFWRED T

During the year, the business of the Group can be divided into
the following two major segments:

— Intelligent Electrical Management Solutions (“IEM Solutions”);
and

— Components and Spare Parts (“CSP”) Business (“CSP
Business”).

With the large-scale integration of new energy sources into the
power grid, the power system must balance energy supply
and demand amid random fluctuations in load requirements,
imposing higher standards for high-quality grid development.
In line with the overarching goal of planning and building a new
energy system and accelerating the construction of a new-
type power system, China has formulated the “Action Plan for
Accelerating the Construction of a New-Type Power System
(2024-2027)". This plan focuses on nine key initiatives from 2024
to 2027 to enhance the grid’s capability in accommodating,
allocating, and regulating clean energy. Additionally, the State
Grid has emphasized the need to strengthen digital intelligence
empowerment, supporting the construction of the new-
type power system and the company’s digital and intelligent
transformation. The Southern Grid also plans to have 55% of its
substations undergo digital and intelligent upgrades by 2027,
with a distribution automation effective coverage rate of no less
than 90%. Amid these dual policy and market opportunities, the
Group believes that demand for intelligent electrical management
systems and equipment will continue to rise, fostering the
Group’s business growth. The Group’s proprietary big data
platform, “Cloud Smart”, leverages modern communication
and internet technologies to collect and monitor users’ energy
consumption and operational status in real time. By deeply
integrating digital power distribution technology, it enables
refined operation and optimized decision-making in intelligent
electrical management. Furthermore, the Group has developed a
comprehensive one-stop IEM solutions, which includes hardware
integration systems, customized operating systems and
software, as well as online and offline operation and maintenance
management services, which gaining strong market and industry
recognition. As a well-known service provider in the industry, the
Group, backed by over 39 years of technological expertise, offers
a nearly unique one-stop IEM Solutions, continuously exploring
new application scenarios to meet diverse customer needs. The
Group is committed to setting a new benchmark in intelligent and
efficient energy management, collaborating with partners to drive
the flourishing development of the new-type power system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EEENWR D

The digital economy, as a key initiative for fostering new
productive forces and enhancing the resilience of industrial
and supply chains, provides strong support for domestic
economic development. As an important focus of digital
economy development, the rapid expansion of data centers
has also resulted in substantial energy consumption. According
to the “Comprehensive Energy Consumption and Flexibility
Forecast Report on Data Centers” released by the Energy and
Environmental Policy Research Center of Beijing Institute of
Technology, from 2024 to 2030, the annual average growth rate
of electricity consumption by data centers nationwide is expected
to reach approximately 20%, far exceeding the growth rate
of electricity consumption across society. By 2025, electricity
consumption by data centers in China is projected to account for
2.4% of the nation’s total electricity consumption, and by 2030,
the total electricity consumption by data centers is estimated to
reach approximately 525.76 billion kilowatt-hours, accounting for
4.8% of the total social electricity consumption. The continuous
increase in newly built data center racks is further driving the
long-term rise in electricity demand, which is expected to present
more market opportunities for the Group’s intelligent electrical
distribution business and drive business volume growth. Over the
years, the Group has been customer-oriented, deeply exploring
the data center power distribution sector, using technological
innovation to upgrade power distribution technology and
intelligent power distribution solutions, and leading the industry’s
development. Leveraging years of industry experience, the Group
has developed our One-Stop Data Center Solution service, which
has gained widespread market recognition and earned the trust
and support of numerous premium customers. As data centers
continue to undergo innovative development, electricity demand
is increasingly shifting toward efficiency and integration to meet
cost reduction, efficiency enhancement, and energy-saving
requirements. The Group believes that such developments will
benefit the advancement of our superior power distribution
solutions, further solidifying our leading position in the industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)
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The modern power distribution network faces various challenges,
and the rapid development of energy storage helps better
integrate renewable energy through flexible scheduling and
balancing, enhancing the resilience and economic efficiency of
the power distribution system. Achieving these goals relies on
robust data management capabilities and an efficient one-stop
intelligent power solution, which seamlessly integrates data flow
and energy flow. By focusing on user-side renewable energy and
energy storage modules, collecting, monitoring, and analyzing
real-time data, and implementing intelligent user-side computing
allocation, distributed renewable energy consumption, and peak-
shaving energy storage, the system ensures highly efficient
operation and exceptional reliability. During the year, leveraging
our leading “One-Stop Intelligent Power Solution”, the Group
has established an outstanding reputation among industrial
clients with high energy consumption and successfully expanded
our business to high-value customer segments, including
telecommunications and data centers, by providing customized,
efficient, and reliable intelligent power solutions. As customer
demands become increasingly diverse and energy storage
application scenarios continue to expand, the Group is seizing
new growth opportunities and is poised for broader market
coverage and deeper technological advancements in the energy
storage sector, positioning energy storage as a new growth
engine for revenue generation.

The Group also continues to expand in the urban municipal
infrastructure sector, focusing on providing intelligent electrical
distribution management solutions for urban rail transit,
wastewater treatment projects, and their supporting facilities.
With the ongoing urbanization process and the increasing
demand for pollution reduction and carbon emission control in
urban environments, the need for intelligent upgrades in power
distribution management has become more pronounced. This
presents significant opportunities for the Group’s intelligent
electrical management business. The Group will continue to
strengthen our core competitiveness, focus on technological
innovation and service upgrades in the municipal sector,
and closely track industry trends to support intelligent urban
development and green transformation, delivering greater
value to clients. Furthermore, with our proven track record and
leading technological expertise, the Group continues to serve
high-end markets, maintaining long-term, close partnerships
with numerous Fortune 500 companies and well-known
multinational enterprises. These stable and growing business
relationships provide a strong foundation for the Group’s
sustained performance. Adhering to a customer-centric business
philosophy, the Group is committed to delivering exceptional
products and services, offering tailored, high-efficiency, and
reliable intelligent solutions based on clients’ specific needs,
along with long-term maintenance and consulting services. By
ensuring intelligent electrical distribution and stable electricity
operations, the Group helps clients achieve cost reduction,
efficiency enhancement, and sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EEENWED T

Looking back at overseas markets, the global economy has
generally stabilized but still faces multiple challenges, including
geopolitical conflicts, energy price fluctuations, and inflationary
pressures. Leveraging our core strengths in intelligent power
distribution, the Group proactively responds to market changes,
maintaining a forward-thinking approach to expanding and
positioning ourselves in overseas markets, achieving steady
international business growth. As demand for power equipment
upgrades continues to grow in the European market, coupled
with increasing attention to green energy and intelligent upgrades,
the Group’s intelligent power distribution hardware, components,
and one-stop solutions have gained significant market potential.
Through localized operations at our subsidiaries in Europe, the
Group precisely identifies customer needs and delivers efficient,
reliable, and customized services. This strategy has significantly
enhanced the Group’s market share and customer satisfaction
while generating substantial revenue. Meanwhile, the “Belt and
Road Initiative” continues to create new opportunities for the
global expansion of the power industry. The Group actively aligns
with national policies, leveraging our successful experience in
international markets to integrate resource advantages and
explore multiple emerging markets. By adopting a localized
construction approach, the Group provides high-end power
distribution products and services tailored to regional needs,
achieving a win-win outcome for both clients and our business
expansion. This approach injects new momentum into the
diversification of the Group’s overseas business and serves
as a key driver for revenue growth in this segment. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to uphold our globalization
strategy, strengthening our localized service capabilities in the
European market while deepening our presence in “Belt and
Road” countries to solidify our industry-leading position. Despite
the persistent challenges in the global economic environment,
we remain confident that the power sector presents both
opportunities and potential. Through continuous technological
innovation and market expansion, the Group is committed to
ensuring stable international business growth and driving our
long-term sustainable development.

During the year, the Group has remained focused on innovation
and R&D, advancing the application and upgrading of intelligent
electrical management technologies. Adhering to the vision
of “providing high-end, customized intelligent and energy-
efficient electrical management solutions for customers across
various industries”. the Group closely follows industry trends
and actively responds to customer needs. By aligning with the
specific application characteristics and usage habits of industry
clients, the Group continuously expands and optimizes our
“Cloud+” services and full-cycle products, enhancing technology
applicability and market competitiveness. Additionally, the Group
is actively exploring the potential of intelligent power technologies
in emerging fields, aiming to gradually expand their applications
and provide clients with comprehensive intelligent power
solutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)
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PROSPECT

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economy is expected to
continue its stable recovery, albeit with increasing divergence
among regions. While rising trade protectionism and escalating
geopolitical risks may impact global production and consumption
costs, the overall resilience of the global economy remains
strong. According to the latest “World Economic Outlook report”
published by the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global
economy is projected to grow by 3.3% in 2025 (remaining largely
unchanged from the October 2024 forecast), with the overall
global inflation rate expected to decline to 4.2%. Meanwhile,
China’s economic growth forecast for 2025 has been revised
upward by 0.1 percentage points to 4.6% compared to the
October 2024 projection. Looking ahead, China’s monetary
policy is shifting towards moderate easing, which is expected
to further stimulate market vitality and unleash greater domestic
demand. Additionally, the nation’s strategic investments in
electricity, new energy, and energy storage will strongly drive
the rapid development of related industries. The Group remains
cautiously optimistic about the prospects of the power industry
and energy market and will actively seize potential market
opportunities by continuing to advance technological innovation
and market expansion, laying a solid foundation for sustainable
growth.

In response to the current market environment, the Group will
adhere to a prudent operational strategy, ensuring a positive
operating cash flow and maintaining ample cash reserves to
navigate macroeconomic uncertainties. This will be achieved
through measures such as optimizing working capital
management and accelerating accounts receivable turnover. At
the same time, the Group will precisely identify and fulfill customer
needs by delivering high-quality products and services, further
expanding our customer base. The Group will also capitalize
on opportunities presented by the “Belt and Road Initiative” to
accelerate the expansion of overseas power projects, injecting
strong growth momentum into our business. Furthermore, the
Group will continue implementing cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement strategies to improve overall operational efficiency
and profitability, striving to maintain our competitive edge in a
dynamic and complex market environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
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As the world enters the era of intelligence, data centers — serving
as the core infrastructure for artificial intelligence (Al), cloud
computing, and other next-generation information technologies
— have increasingly become the computing backbone of modern
digital infrastructure. These centers provide critical computing
power, storage, and network support, solidifying their strategic
importance. As of the third quarter of 2024, the number of
operational data center racks has increased by more than 100%
year-on-year. Looking into 2025, China’s National Data Bureau
will vigorously implement the “East Data, West Computing”
initiative, accelerating the construction of a nationwide integrated
computing power network. By the end of 2025, over 60% of
newly added computing power is expected to be concentrated
in national hub node regions. With the rapid expansion of large-
scale data infrastructure, the demand for intelligent power supply,
distribution, and electrical management is set to surge, unlocking
significant market potential for the Group’s related products. As
a leading domestic provider of high-end, one-stop integrated
power distribution systems and solutions, the Group leverages
our deep expertise in intelligent power distribution and energy
management. The independently developed big data platform
“Cloud Smart” enables the Group to offer a unique one-stop IEM
Solutions, ensuring power security and stability for data centers.
By providing intelligent power distribution solutions that optimize
energy efficiency, the Group helps clients achieve sustainable
development in the data center industry. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to explore opportunities in data center
intelligence, capitalize on the deep integration of computing
power infrastructure and Al technologies, and leverage our
technological strengths to reinforce our leadership in intelligent
power distribution and energy management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)

EEEFWRED T

With the acceleration of the global energy transition, the installed
capacity of renewable energy sources such as wind and solar
power continues to expand. However, the inherent volatility
of renewable power supply places higher demands on the
regulation capabilities of power systems. Energy storage plays a
crucial role in addressing this challenge by effectively managing
peak demand, optimizing grid load distribution, and ensuring
power system flexibility, security, and stability. Its significance in
intelligent electrical systems is becoming increasingly prominent.
In April 2024, China’s National Energy Administration issued the
“Notice on Promoting the Grid Connection and Dispatching of
New Energy Storage”, which emphasizes the standardization of
grid integration, optimization of dispatching mechanisms, and full
utilization of energy storage to support the development of a new-
type power system. According to forecasts by the China Energy
Storage Alliance (CNESA), new energy storage installations in
2025 are expected to range between 40.8GW and 51.9GW,
averaging around 45GW, with cumulative installations surpassing
100GW. The Group will seize the opportunities presented by the
high-growth energy storage market by expanding beyond our
established customer base in industrial, telecommunications,
and data center sectors to tap into new industry segments.
Leveraging our leading one-stop intelligent power solutions,
the Group will help customers build highly efficient and reliable
energy management systems, reducing operational energy costs.
Furthermore, in alignment with national policies, the Group will
drive the development of new energy power systems through
our advanced intelligent power and energy storage management
solutions, contributing to China’s carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality goals.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
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Municipal infrastructure plays a critical role in enhancing public
well-being and driving high-quality social development. As
urbanization accelerates, growing demand in key sectors such
as rail transit and wastewater treatment is creating new and
diversified opportunities for the power industry. Additionally, these
developments highlight the competitive advantages of intelligent
electrical management systems, which align with the Group’s
business growth strategy. By leveraging our proprietary digital
technology platform and intelligent solutions, the Group has
successfully provided high-efficiency, safe energy management
support to multiple major municipal projects, helping clients
optimize operating costs and achieve dual carbon reduction
targets. At the same time, the Group continues to strengthen
partnerships with global leading customers and upstream
and downstream industry players. Through precise demand
alignment, technology integration, and scenario-based service
capabilities, the Group is building a comprehensive service
system that covers everything from solution design to full lifecycle
management, significantly enhancing customer experience.
Looking ahead, the Group will further focus on the smart
and green development needs of municipal infrastructure. By
driving iterative upgrades of our solutions through technological
innovation, the Group aims to reinforce our early-mover
advantage in intelligent electrical management systems and
solidify our industry leadership. The Group will also continue to
uphold our commitment to sustainable development, leveraging
technology to enhance clients’ energy efficiency and support
their green transformation, ultimately creating long-term value for
social progress and public welfare.

On a global scale, the acceleration of power infrastructure
upgrades across Europe and North America is presenting new
growth opportunities for the Group’s overseas business. At the
same time, China’s “Belt and Road Initiative” continues to drive
international energy cooperation, opening further prospects in
overseas power markets. By leveraging our well-established
local operating teams and extensive customer resource network,
the Group will closely monitor market dynamics, precisely
capture emerging opportunities, and accelerate the large-
scale deployment of intelligent power distribution hardware,
components, and solutions. This strategic approach will further
strengthen the Group’s global footprint and lay a solid foundation
for the continued execution of our internationalization strategy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (confinued)
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Entering 2025, despite ongoing macroeconomic uncertainties,
China’s deepening dual carbon strategy and energy transition
are fostering favorable conditions for the intelligent electrical
management industry. The Group remains committed to our
core values of “Learning, Innovation, Action, and Perseverance”,
maintaining a policy-driven approach to capitalize on national
strategic opportunities and drive high-quality growth. With
a focus on technological innovation, the Group will continue
to strengthen our strategic presence in key industries and
markets, including power grid and distribution intelligence,
telecommunications and data centers, municipal infrastructure,
and global business expansion. Through lean management
practices, the Group will enhance operational efficiency while
carefully assessing project cash flow to maintain financial health
and strengthen our risk resilience. Additionally, the Group will
proactively respond to customers’ diverse needs by continuously
advancing technological innovation and service excellence,
further improving customer experience and fostering long-term
partnerships. By capitalizing on the “Belt and Road Initiative’s”
green energy cooperation framework, the Group will accelerate
our global market expansion and increase market share,
ultimately creating long-term, sustainable value for shareholders,
customers, and partners.

OPERATION AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the year, the business of the Group can be divided into
the following two segments:

IEM Solutions

Based on modern communication and Internet technology
and relying on its “Cloud Smart” big data platform, the Group
provides its customers with one-stop intelligent electrical
integrated management solutions for the products and services
such as intelligent hardware integrated systems, customised
operating systems and software, intelligent power consumption
and energy efficiency management system, new energy power
generation and sales of electricity solutions, as well as online and
offline operation and maintenance management, thereby ensuring
safe, highly efficient and energy-saving power consumption of
customers and hence maximising the economic benefits of their
power consumption.

The revenue of IEM Solutions segment of the Group for the
year was RMB505.3 million (2023: RMB413.1 million), which
accounted for 74.3% (2023: 70.6%) of the Group’s total revenue
for the year. The revenue of IEM Solutions segment recorded
an increase of 22.3% as compared to the same period in 2023,
while the gross profit of this business segment was RMB147.0
million (2023: RMB125.7 million), representing an increase of
17.0% as compared to the same period in 2023. The increase
benefits from the growing demand in the data center industry
and the expansion of overseas business.

The gross profit margin of IEM Solutions segment decreased
from 30.4% in 2023 to 29.1% for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
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CSP Business

The Group also manufactures components and spare parts
for application on electrical distribution equipment or the basic
function units of the solutions and sells such components and
spare parts to its customers. Their functions can only be realised
through the system or connecting with other hardware.

According to the differences of applications, CSP Business can
be further classified into the below categories:

— Special CSP: the custom-made parts ordered by the
Group’s long-term customers; and

— Standard CSP: the general parts and components being
sold by the Group.

The revenue of CSP Business segment of the Group for the
year was RMB175.0 million (2023: RMB172.4 million), which
accounted for 25.7% (2023: 29.4%) of the Group’s total revenue
for the year. The increase in the revenue of CSP Business
segment for the year was 1.5% as compared to the same
period in 2023. The gross profit of CSP Business segment
was RMB50.5 million (2023: RMB40.3 million), representing an
increase of 25.2% as compared to the same period in 2023.

The gross profit margin of CSP Business segment was 28.9%
(2023: 23.4%), the increase was mainly due to the continuous
upgrade of the Group’s products and technologies.

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net mainly includes interest income
from financial institutions, refund of value added taxes,
government grants and net gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and investment properties. Other income and
gains, net decreased from RMB50.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to RMB12.8 million for the year, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in government grants. During
the year, the Group, as the plaintiff, was ordered to dispose an
investment property pursuant to a court’s judgment in December
2023 and recovered RMB13.5 million. Originally the involved
property had been provided as collateral for a sum of trade
receivables from a customer, who subsequently failed to repay
the Group’s debt on time and entered into bankruptcy liquidation
proceedings. During the year, the Group disposed of the involved
property in accordance with the court’s judgment and therefore
recorded a loss on disposal of an investment property of RMB3.7
million during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consist of mainly staff costs,
transportation fees, travelling expenses and other miscellaneous
expenses. During the year, selling and distribution expenses
were RMB54.3 million (2023: RMB54.2 million), representing an
increase of RMBO0.1 million or 0.3% as compared to that of 2023.
Selling and distribution expenses accounted for 8.0% of the
revenue for the year (2023: 9.3%).

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly comprised
of staff costs, office expenses, depreciation and amortisation
charges and other miscellaneous expenses. Administrative and
other operating expenses for the year amounted to RMB93.2
million (2023: RMB96.8 million), representing a decrease of
RMB3.6 million as compared to that of 2023. Administrative and
other operating expenses accounted for 13.7% of the revenue
for the year (2023: 16.5%).

Finance costs

During the year, the Group’s finance costs were RMB22.9 million
(2023: RMB30.3 million). Finance costs include interest on
borrowings mainly denominated in RMB. The decrease in finance
costs was mainly due to the decrease in borrowings.

Income tax expense

During the year, the Group’s income tax expense was RMB7.7
million (2023: RMB3.8 million), representing an increase of
RMB3.9 million as compared to that of 2023. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in reversal of deferred tax assets
made during the year.

Profit for the year

Profit for the year was RMB31.1 million (2023: RMB28.9 million).
Net profit margin for the year was 4.6% (2023: 4.9%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continved)
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Group were
RMB1,525.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,487.5 million)
and the total liabilities were RMB1,213.5 million (31 December
2023: RMB1,186.3 million). As at 31 December 2024, the
total equity of the Group amounted to RMB311.7 million (31
December 2023: RMB301.3 million).

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, amounts due to related
parties and borrowings. As at 31 December 2024, the cash
and cash equivalents, net current assets and total assets less
current liabilities were RMB85.7 million (31 December 2023:
RMB51.3 million), RMB135.7 million (31 December 2023:
RMB32.2 million) and RMB453.3 million (31 December 2023:
RMB465.8 million) respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had borrowings amounting to RMB251.7 million (31
December 2023: RMB305.3 million). Borrowings were repayable
within five years with effective interest rates ranging from 1.5%
10 4.35% per annum (31 December 2023: range from 1.5% to
4.65% per annum). Cash and cash equivalents and borrowings
were denominated mainly in RMB. The Group’s gearing ratio,
which was expressed as a ratio of total borrowings over total
equity, was 80.7% as at 31 December 2024 (31 December
2023: 101.3%). The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly due to
decrease in total borrowings.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain borrowings were secured by
buildings of RMB52.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB31.9
million), prepaid leasehold land of RMB26.5 million (31 December
2023: RMB27.2 million) and pledged deposits of RMB140.0
million (31 December 2023: RMB200.0 million).

ASSETS/LIABILITIES TURNOVER RATIO

The average inventory turnover days decreased by 17 days from
124 days for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 107 days for
the year. The average trade receivables turnover days decreased
by 50 days from 368 days for the year ended 31 December
2023 to 318 days for the year was mainly due to the increase in
revenue. The average trade payables turnover days increased by
38 days from 613 days for the year ended 31 December 2023
to 651 days for the year was mainly due to increasing use of bills
payable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

As the Group’s principal activities are carried out in the PRC, the
Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, which is
not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange
transactions involving RMB must take place through the PRC or
other institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rates adopted for the foreign exchange transactions
are the rates of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China
that are determined largely by supply and demand.

The Group currently does not have a policy on foreign currency
risk as it had minimal export sales and the impact of foreign
currency risk on the Group’s total sales is minimal.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group had no significant investment held or material
acquisition and disposal during the year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital
assets as of 31 December 2024.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had 626 (31 December 2023: 619) employees as
at 31 December 2024. The total staff costs for the year were
RMB88.1 million (2023: RMB79.7 million). The remuneration
policy was in line with the current legislation in the relevant
jurisdictions, market conditions and performance of the staff and
the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
their contribution and support are valued at all times. The
Group provides competitive remuneration packages and share
award scheme to attract and retain employees with the aim
to form a professional staff and management team that can
bring the Group to new levels of success. The Group regularly
reviews compensation and benefit policies according to industry
benchmark, financial results as well as the individual performance
of employees. Furthermore, the Group places great emphasis on
the training and development of employees and regards excellent
employees as a key factor in its competitiveness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continved)

EEEFWRED T

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
1. Market risks

The Group is exposed to certain market risks such as
interest rate risk, credit risk (including the risk to be borne by
the Group in the event of default of payment by customers),
liquidity risk, etc. The details are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.

2. Commercial risks

The Group is facing various competition by multinational
companies in the same industry, and also finds that an
increasing number of domestic competitors enter the high-
end markets. To maintain the Group’s competitiveness,
the management uses cost leadership strategy as well
as diversifying its business strategies to tackle other
competitors.

3. Operational risks

The Group’s operations require a certain number of
government approvals and are subject to a broad range of
laws and regulations governing various matters. In particular,
the continuance of the Group’s operations depends upon
compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety
and other regulations. The Group has already employed
external legal consultant and business adviser and will ensure
timely approvals by relevant government departments.

4. Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talents

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced human
resource could result in a delay in achieving the Group’s
strategic goals. The risk of the loss of key personnel is
mitigated by regular reviews of recruitment and retention
practices, remuneration packages, share award scheme and
succession planning within the management team.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability throughout
its business operations. As a responsible corporation, the Group
strives to ensure minimal environmental impacts by carefully
managing our energy consumption and water usage level,
including the establishment of self-distributed photovoltaic power
plants and other initiatives.

The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the
employees’ awareness of resources saving and efficient use
of energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several
policies to encourage employees for saving energy. All these
policies aim at reducing resources consumption and saving costs
which are beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial
goals of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

EEEFWRED T

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group values mutually beneficial long standing relationships
with its suppliers and customers. The Group aims at delivering
high quality products and solutions to its customers and
developing mutual trust among its suppliers.

The Directors believe that maintaining good relationships with
customers has been one of the critical reasons for the Group’s
success. The business model of the Group with regards to the
business is to maintain and strengthen on strong relationships
within our client base. The Group’s mission is to provide the
finest products and solutions to the customers. The Group is
constantly looking at ways to improve customer relations through
enhanced services. Through the above approaches, the Group
hopes to increase the volume of business from the existing
customers and the reach for new potential clients.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board places emphasis on the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
External legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions and
businesses performed by the Group are within the applicable law
framework. Updates on applicable laws, rules and regulations
are brought to the attention of relevant employees and operation
units from time to time. The Group continues to commit to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), and other applicable laws and
regulations. Based on information available, the Directors take
the view that during the year, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEREREHEREE

The Directors’ updated information is set out below. Upon
specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this report, there is
no change in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the Company published the last interim report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
QIAN Yixiang

QIAN Yixiang, aged 51, is an Executive Director, the Chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Qian Yixiang was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 12 February 2010 and as a member of
the Company’s Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee on 30 September 2010. Mr. Qian Yixiang is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qian Yixiang
is mainly responsible for overseeing the factory operations in
the PRC subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Qian Yixiang joined Wuxi
Boer Power Instrumentation Company Ltd. (“Wuxi Boer”), the
predecessor entity of the Group, in July 1995 and became the
General Manager of Wuxi Boer in January 1998. Since he first
joined Wuxi Boer in July 1995, Mr. Qian Yixiang has acquired
knowledge and experience about the electrical distribution
systems and the electrical distribution equipment industry. Mr.
Qian Yixiang graduated from Jiangnan University with a Diploma
in Business Management in 1995. Mr. Qian Yixiang is the
husband of Ms. Jia Lingxia and the son of Mr. Qian Zhongming.

JIA Lingxia

JIA Lingxia (“Ms. Jia”), aged 51, is an Executive Director
and the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Ms. Jia
was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
on 12 February 2010 and as a member of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on
30 September 2010. Ms. Jia is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Jia is mainly responsible for
overseeing the sales and marketing operation of the Group.
Ms. Jia joined Wuxi Boer in August 1995 and became the
Deputy General Manager of Wuxi Boer in January 1997. From
February 1995 to August 1995, Ms. Jia worked at Wuxi Special
Ventilation Machine Factory, currently known as Wuxi Xishan
Special Ventilation Machine Factory, as the head of the accounts
department. Since Ms. Jia joined Wuxi Boer in August 1995,
she has acquired knowledge and experience about the electrical
distribution systems and the electrical distribution equipment
industry. Ms. Jia graduated from Jiangnan University with a
Diploma in Business Management in 1995. Ms. Jia is the wife of
Mr. Qian Yixiang and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Qian Zhongming.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

EERGNEEERERE @)

ZHA Saibin

ZHA Saibin (“Mr. Zha”), aged 58, is an Executive Director and
a Vice President of the Company responsible for new products
development. Mr. Zha was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 12 February 2010. Mr. Zha is also the director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zha joined Wuxi
Boer in June 2000 and became the Assistant Manager and the
head of research and development department of Wuxi Boer in
2003. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zha worked at Wuxi City
Apparatus Factory from July 1990 to May 2000 and was later
appointed as the head of research and development and the
Deputy General Manager in January 1996 and November 1997,
respectively. Since joining Wuxi Boer in June 2000, Mr. Zha
has acquired knowledge and experience about the electrical
distribution systems and the electrical distribution equipment
industry. Mr. Zha received a bachelor’s degree in Engineering in
1990 from Hefei University of Technology.

QIAN Zhongming

QIAN Zhongming, aged 78, is an Executive Director and a Vice
President of the Company responsible for providing advice to
the Board. Mr. Qian Zhongming was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 February 2010. As a founding
member of Wuxi Boer, Mr. Qian Zhongming acquired knowledge
and experience about the electrical distribution systems and the
electrical distribution equipment industry over the past 30 years.
Mr. Qian Zhongming graduated from Luoshe Senior High School
in 1966. Mr. Qian Zhongming is the father of Mr. Qian Yixiang
and the father-in-law of Ms. Jia.

YU Wai Ming

YU Wai Ming (“Mr. Yu”), aged 40, is an Executive Director of
the Company responsible for the formulation of the strategic
development plans and management policy of the Group and the
management of the daily operations of the Group. Mr. Yu was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 8 January
2021. Mr. Yu was also appointed by Mr. Zha as his alternate
Director with effect from 8 January 2021. Mr. Yu is currently an
independent non-executive director of Billion Industrial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2299).

Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 18 years of experience in
professional accounting and corporate advisory services. Mr.
Yu received a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 2006.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (confinued)

EERGNEEERERE @)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
TANG Jianrong

TANG Jianrong (“Mr. Tang”), aged 61, joined the Board as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 30 September 2010 and
was appointed as a member of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on 30
September 2010. Mr. Tang is currently a professor in the School
of Business at Jiangnan University. He is also currently an
independent director of Jiangsu Zhongshe Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 002883), which is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and
Wuxi Hongsheng Heat Exchanger Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 603090), which is listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tang received a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Hebei
Geology College, currently known as Shijiazhuang University
of Economics, in 1987. He then received a master’s degree in
Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics in 1990. He
received a Doctoral degree in Science from Nanjing University in
2009.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

EERGNEEERERE @)

QU Weimin

QU Weimin (“Mr. Qu”), aged 56, joined the Board as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 1 August 2016 and was
appointed as a member of the Company’s Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on 1
August 2016. Mr. Qu serves as the Project Director of Beijing
Zhongqging Zhihui New Energy Technology Co., Ltd since
November 2020. From November 2019 to October 2020,
Mr. Qu served as the Equipment Director of Beijing Zhizhong
Rail Transportation Technology Co, Ltd. From January 2019
to October 2019, Mr. Qu was the Chief Engineer of Beijing
Supergreen Technologies Co., Ltd., responsible for the
operation of the company and focusing on the application
of fiberglass spray-on thermal insulation on ships of Chinese
navy. Mr. Qu served as the Chief Representative of Franklin
Fueling Systems Inc., the Beijing Office from January 2008 to
December 2008. From August 2005 to December 2006, Mr.
Qu served as the Deputy General Manager of Wuxi Electrical
Instrument & Power System Factory (currently known as “Wuxi
Boer Power Instrumentation Company Ltd.”). Prior to that, Mr.
Qu worked as the Product Manager of Veeder-Root Petroleum
Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. between May 2004 and July
2005. For the period from July 1996 to May 2004, Mr. Qu
worked with Schneider Electric (China) Investment Co., Ltd
where he served various positions including Product Marketing
& Strategic Planning Manager of Medium Voltage Activity,
Activity & Franchise Operation Manager of Medium Voltage
Primary Distribution Activity, DV2 Vacuum Circuit Breaker Project
Manager and Franchise Operation Manager of Low Voltage
Distribution Activity. Mr. Qu has over 31 years’ experience in the
power industry.

Mr. Qu obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from the City University of Seattle in 2003 and a bachelor’s
degree in Electrical Engineering from Tsinghua University in 1990.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (confinued)
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LAI Wai Leuk

LAl Wai Leuk (“Mr. Lai”), aged 48, joined the Board as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 2 July 2020 and
was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 2 July 2020. From May 2000 to January 2004,
Mr. Lai worked at Fung, Yu & Co., Certified Public Accountants.
He also served successively as accountant, assistant manager
and manager of KPMG from January 2004 to October 2009.
Mr. Lai was transferred to KPMG Advisory (China) Limited from
November 2009 to May 2012 and was a senior manager at the
time of leaving. He also served as chief financial officer of Aujet
Industry Limited from May 2012 to August 2013. Mr. Lai was
the chief financial officer, company secretary and one of the
authorised representatives of Billion Industrial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2299) from October 2013 to July 2021. He served as
an independent non-executive director of Universal Star (Holdings)
Limited (former stock code: 2346), a company previously listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2021
to March 2022. He also served as the company secretary of
Wenling Zhejiang Measuring and Cutting Tools Trading Centre
Company Limited (stock code: 1379) from July 2022 to March
2024. Mr. Lai is currently the chief executive officer, company
secretary, authorised representative and process agent of
Ruifeng Power Group Company Limited (stock code: 2025) from
4 November 2024. He has more than 23 years of experience
in auditing and accounting. Mr. Lai is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of CPA
Australia and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries.

Mr. Lai received his bachelor’s degree of Commerce majoring
in Accountancy from the University of Wollongong in Australia
in December 1999 and obtained the master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 2017.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

WU Jianping

WU Jianping (“Mr. Wu Jianping”), aged 46, is the Vice
President of the Group, in charge of domestic sales business
management. Mr. Wu Jianping joined the Group in July 2002
and worked in the marketing department of Boer (Wuxi) Power
System Co., Ltd. (“Boer Wuxi”) from July 2002 to December
2004, he was appointed as the industry manager of Boer Wuxi
sales department in January 2005, and was appointed as the
Southeastern regional manager of Boer Wuxi sales department
in January 2006. Mr. Wu Jianping was appointed as the Group’s
Sales Director for East China region in January 2011 and was
appointed as the Group’s Sales Director for Central China region
in January 2018. Mr Wu Jianping was appointed as the Vice
President of the Group in September 2020. Since he joined the
Group in 2002, Mr. Wu Jianping has gained extensive working
experience in marketing and sales business in the industry. Mr.
Wu Jianping graduated from the School of Management of China
University of Mining and Technology in July 2002.

AN Di

AN Di (“Mr. An”), aged 53, is the Vice President of the Group,
in charge of human resources, legal and IT departments. Mr. An
joined the Group in March 2005 and was appointed as Assistant
to General Manager and the Head of Internal Compliance of
Boer Wuxi in November 20086, as factory Operation Manager of
Boer Wuxi in September 2010 and as the Human Resources
Director of the Group in October 2012. Mr. An was re-designated
as Human Resources and Legal Director of the Group in July
2015 and was appointed as the Vice President of the Group in
September 2020. Since he joined the Group in March 2005, Mr.
An has gained experience in overlooking the implementation of
internal compliance, human resources and legal matters. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. An had been an Assistant to the Factory
Director of Tianshui Cheungcheng General Electric Apparatus
Factory. Mr. An graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University with a
diploma in Jurisprudence in 2006.

WU Chang

WU Chang (“Mr. Wu”), aged 54, is the Vice President of
the Group, in charge of business and technology, project
management and factory operation. Mr. Wu Chang is mainly
responsible for project technical plan development, business
quotations, industrial design of product technology, project
execution and factory management etc. Mr. Wu Chang joined
Wuxi City Instrumentation System Works in July 1995. He was
appointed as Project Manager of Boer Wuxi in March 2003 and
as Quality Control department’s Manager of Boer Power in June
2008. In September 2012, Mr. Wu Chang was promoted to the
Customer Center Director of the Group. He was re-designated
as the Research and Development Director of the Research
and Development Department in June 2015 and was then
re-designated as the Business and Technology Director in March
2017. Mr. Wu Chang was appointed as the Vice President of the
Group in January 2021. Mr. Wu Chang graduated from Suzhou
Sericulture College in 1993.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (confinued)
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MA Xiaobin

MA Xiaobin (“Mr. Ma”), aged 47, is the Vice President of the
Group, in charge of overseas business support and material
cost control. Mr. Ma jointed the Group in March 2013 as the
operation manager of Boer (Yixing) Power System Co., Ltd. He
was appointed as the R&D Director of the Group’s R&D center
in 2015, and was appointed as the Group’s Overseas Supply
Chain Director in September 2019. Mr. Ma was appointed as
the Group’s Vice President of Cost in February 2021. Since
joining the Group, he has gained experience in factory operation,
R&D execution, supply chain management and cost control.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma was the Factory Manager of
Nantong Tianbo Electronics Co., Ltd. Mr. Ma was the Technical
Director of Jiangsu Wellman Group from 2009 to 2010, and he
was the Technical Manager of Jiangsu Hima Electromechanical
Engineering Co., Ltd. Before June 2009. Mr. Ma graduated from
Jiangsu University in June 2001 with a bachelor’s degree in
Engineering.

ZHANG Xiaochen

ZHANG Xiaochen (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 40, is the Vice
President of the Group, in charge of the Group’s internal control
and quality control. Mr. Zhang is mainly responsible for the
formulation and optimisation of the Company’s internal control
process and execution standard according to the needs of its
business development; the execution of the internal control of
the Company to help various departments, subsidiaries and
holding companies to carry out on-site supervision over the
relevant business processes and operating practices to reduce
management risk. Mr. Zhang joined Boer Wuxi in September
2015 as the Financial Internal Control Manager, he was
appointed as the Internal Audit Manager in December 2015
and was appointed as the Vice President of the Group in March
20283. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked as the
Auditor of the Audit Department of Csc & Associados Sociedade
De Auditores in Macau from September 2008 to October 2010.
From October 2010 to October 2012, Mr. Zhang worked as
the Senior Auditor of Lehman Brown International Accountants.
From October 2012 to September 2015, Mr. Zhang worked as
the Senior Auditor of the Internal Audit Office of Daikin (CHINA)
Investment Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang graduated from Macau University
of Science and Technology in 2008 with a bachelor of Business
Administration in Accounting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
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LI Xianli

LI Xianli (“Mr. Li”), aged 51, is the Long-term Customers
Markets Director of the Group. Mr. Li is mainly responsible for the
development of long-term customers markets of the Group and
sales work of Boer Wuxi Tezhong Electrical Capacitor Co., Ltd.
Mr. Li joined Boer Power in April 2011 as the Operation Director.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li was the Purchasing Engineer
and Purchasing Supervisor of York (Wuxi) Air-conditioner
Refrigeration Equipment Co., Ltd. from February 1997 to
November 2004. Mr. Li worked as the Operating Manager
and General Manager of Compair Global Purchasing Center
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from December 2004 to March 2011. Mr. Li
received a bachelor’s degree in Economics in 1997 from Nanjing
Agricultural University and then a master’s degree in Business
Administration in 2006 from Fudan University.

SHEN Weizu

SHEN Weizu (“Mr. Shen”), aged 53, is the Operation Manager
of Wuxi Tezhong Electrical Capacitor Co., Limited. Mr. Shen
joined Boer Wuxi in January 1993 and was appointed as the
Manufacturing Supervisor and Quality Supervisor of Boer Wuxi
in April 1999 and July 2005 respectively. Subsequently he
worked as the Operation Manager of Yixing Boai Automation
Complete Sets of Equipment Co., Ltd. and then Boer Wuxi
between the period from September 2010 and September 2013.
In October 2013, Mr. Shen was promoted to Supply Chain
Management Director of the Group. Mr. Shen was re-designated
as Engineering Director of the Engineering Department in
June 2015 and was appointed as Operation Manager of Wukxi
Tezhong Electrical Capacitor Co., Limited in April 2017. Mr. Shen
graduated from Jiangsu Provincial Huaiyang Electronic Industrial
College in 1993.
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WANG Ting

WANG Ting (“Mr. Wang”), aged 48, is the Vice President
of the Group, responsible for the marketing department and
sales operations in the South China region. Mr. Wang joined
the Group in January 2011. From January 2011 to December
2014, he served as the South China Regional Components Sales
Director of Boer Wuxi. In January 2015, he was appointed as
the Operations and Maintenance Sales Director of Boer Wukxi,
and in January 2017, he was promoted to South China Regional
Sales Director. In April 2024, Mr. Wang was appointed as the
Vice President of the Group. Before joining the Group, Mr.
Wang worked at Shanghai Electric Apparatus Research Institute
Switch Co., Ltd. from July 1997 to December 2010, where he
held the position of Sales Director. Since 1997, Mr. Wang has
gained extensive experience in market and sales operations
within the industry. Mr. Wang graduated from Shanghai Electrical
Engineering College in July 1997.

CHAN Shiu Pui

CHAN Shiu Pui (“Mr. Chan”), aged 45, is the Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Chan is
mainly responsible for the financial management, corporate
financing and company secretarial matters. Mr. Chan joined the
Group as the Financial Controller and Company Secretary in
October 2019. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked for
one of the Big Four international accounting firms and various
companies. He has more than 19 years of experience in auditing
and financial management. Mr. Chan graduated from the
University of Plymouth in the United Kingdom with a bachelor’s
degree majoring in Business Administration in 2002. Mr. Chan
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

LU Jiang

LU Jiang (“Mr. Lu”), aged 44, is the Investor Relations Manager
of the Group. Mr. Lu joined Boer Power in May 2015. He has
extensive experience in the area of investor relations. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Lu worked as the News and Public
Affairs Officer of the British Embassy in China, the Corporate
Development and Investor Relations Manager of Gome Electrical
Appliances Holding Limited (stock code: 493) and the Investor
Relations Manager of PW Medtech Group Limited (stock code:
1358). Mr. Lu received a master’s degree in Computer Science
from University of Hertfordshire in 2003.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELIWE

The Board presents this Corporate Governance Report in the
Group’s annual report for the year.

The Company and its management are committed to maintaining
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is essential for a continual growth and enhancement
of shareholders’ value.

During the year, the Company has applied the principles of good
corporate governance and has complied with the code provisions
stipulated in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “Code”) as set out in part 2 of Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules, except for the deviations from the code
provision C.2.1 which are explained in the relevant paragraphs
on page 40 in this report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C8 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code for
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
by the Company to all Directors, all the Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year regarding the directors’ securities
transactions. The Company has also ensured compliance of its
employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities in respect of their dealings with
the Company’s securities.

The following sections set out how the principles in the Code
have been complied with by the Company during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised eight Directors
consisting of five Executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the
business of the Group.

Function

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management
of the Company’s business and affairs with the objective of
enhancing shareholder value.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

TEERRE @

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties including the developing, reviewing and
monitoring of the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on the compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance with the Model Code and the
compliance manual applicable to the Company’s employees and
the Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the
Code and disclosing in the corporate governance report of the
annual report of the Company.

In addition, the Board is also responsible for reviewing the
risk management system, discussing with the management
to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management system,
considering major investigation findings on risk management
matters and management’s response to these findings, reviewing
arrangements by which employees and those who deal with the
Company can raise the concerns about possible improprieties
in risk management related to the Company, and ensuring
appropriate follow-up actions have been taken.

The Board has engaged an external independent consultant to
assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems annually which covered certain material
controls, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions. The assessment
report was reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board to
ensure the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems have been worked effectively.

The daily operations, business strategies and administration of
the Company are delegated to the Executive Directors and the
management with the divisional heads responsible for different
aspects of the business. When the Board delegates different
aspects of its management and administrative functions to the
senior management, it gives clear directions in relation to the
scope of powers of the senior management. Although the Board
is not involved in the Group’s day-to-day operations, it does have
a formal schedule of matters reserved for its own decision, as
defined in its terms of reference.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the
Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically
and responsibly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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Board independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and
such mechanisms will be reviewed annually by the Board.
The mechanisms includes (i) all Directors are entitled to retain
independent professional advisors as and when it is required, (i)
all Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open
and candid manner during the Board meetings, (iii) the Chairman
of the Board will meet with the Independent Non-executive
Directors at least annually without the presence of the Executive
Directors, (iv) no equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to Independent Non-executive
Directors, (v) all Independent Non-executive Directors are
required to submit a written confirmation to the Company
annually to confirm their independence; (vi) each Independent
Non-executive Director will be assessed his/her independence
before appointment and the continued independence of the
current long-serving Independent Non-executive Director on
an annual basis; and (vii) at least one — third of the Board are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Board meetings

During the year, four meetings were held by the Board. The
attendance record of each Director is set out below:

Name of Board members

EEgRENRR
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Qian Yixiang® (Chairman and SRRSO
Chief Executive Officer) (FEFITHARZL)

Ms. Jia Lingxia® (Chief Operating Officer)

BEBRL(EEEE

Mr. Zha Saibin® EEWRED
Mr. Qian Zhongming® SRR ST A
Mr. Yu Wai Ming REHEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTES
Mr. Tang Jianrong ERESRE

Mr. Qu Weimin BERE

Mr. Lai Wai Leuk RIZEE L

Notes:

(i)  Mr. Qian Yixiang is the husband of Ms. Jia Lingxia and the son of Mr.

Qian Zhongming.

(i) Mr. Zha Saibin appointed Mr. Yu Wai Ming as his alternate Director and
authorise Mr. Yu Wai Ming to attend Board meetings during his absence.
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Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other Board meetings.

The Directors would receive relevant documents from the
Company Secretary in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to be informed of the decisions of those matters discussed in
the Board meetings. The Company Secretary would ensure the
procedures of the Board meetings are observed and provide the
Board with opinions on matters in relation to the compliance with
the procedures of the Board meetings. Board minutes prepared
and kept by the Company Secretary are sent to the Directors for
records and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year, the Company had complied with Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. There were three Independent
Non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board or
above. Among the three Independent Non-executive Directors,
one of them has the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors bring independent
judgment on issues of strategy, performance and risk. The
Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors annual written confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Qian Yixiang
is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Such deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Code is deemed
appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to have one
single person as the Chairman of the Company as well as to
discharge the executive functions of a Chief Executive Officer,
and it provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership
in the development and execution of its long-term business
strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board
which comprises highly experienced individuals. During the year,
the composition of the Board include Independent Non-executive
Directors, all of whom possess adequate independence and
therefore the Board considers that the Company has achieved
balance and provided sufficient protection of the Company’s
interests. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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Appointment, re-election and removal

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the power
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board or as an additional Director to the existing Board
subject to any maximum number of Directors, if any, as may be
determined by the shareholders in general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an additional Director to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), one third of the Directors for the time being will
retire from office by rotation. Under code provision B.2.2 of the
Code, all the Non-executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. At present, each of Mr.
Tang Jianrong, Mr. Qu Weimin and Mr. Lai Wai Leuk has been
appointed for a specific term of three years from their respective
appointments on (i) 30 September 2010 for Mr. Tang Jianrong,
(i) 1 August 2016 for Mr. Qu Weimin and (i) 2 July 2020 for
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk. Mr. Tang Jianrong, Mr. Qu Weimin and Mr.
Lai Wai Leuk had retired from their office and been re-elected
as Independent Non-executive Directors at the AGMs of the
Company in 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively. Under code
provision B.2.2 of the Code, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three year. Ms. Jia Lingxia, the
Executive Director, Mr. Tang Jianrong and Mr. Qu Weimin, the
Independent Non-executive Directors, will retire from their office
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible to offer
themselves for re-election pursuant to articles 108 and 109 of the
Articles.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.3 of the Code, any further
appointment of independent non-executive director serving more
than nine years should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.
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Mr. Tang Jianrong has been appointed as an independent
Non-executive Director since September 2010 and has served
the Company for more than nine years, he is due to retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM. During the tenure of office,
Mr. Tang Jianrong had performed his duties as an independent
Non-executive director to the satisfaction of the Board. The
Nomination Committee of the Company has assessed Mr.
Tang Jianrong’s role as an independent non-executive Director,
taking into account factors including but not limited to Mr. Tang
Jianrong’s reputation for integrity, experience, ability to assist
the Board, perspectives and skills. As Mr. Tang Jianrong has
been providing objective and independent views to the Company
during his tenure of office, the Nomination Committee was
of the view that Mr. Tang Jianrong remains committed to his
independent role and that the long service of Mr. Tang Jianrong
would not affect his exercise of independent judgement as
an independent non-executive Director. A separate ordinary
resolution will be proposed for his re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the
Company before the expiration of his term of office and the
Company may by ordinary resolution appoint another Director
in his place. Unless otherwise determined by the Company in
general meeting, the number of Directors shall not be less than
two.

Directors’ continuous training and development

Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Group. The Company encourages all Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates
the Directors with circulars and guidance notes on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices. The
Group also provides all members of the Board with monthly
updates on the Group’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company
Secretary, Mr. Chan Shiu Pui, took no less than 15 hours of the
relevant professional training during the year.
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A summary of the trainings received by the Directors for the year is
as follows:

Name of Board members

EEgRELR

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Qian Yixiang® RS AED
Ms. Jia Lingxia® BEE LT
Mr. Zha Saibin BEWSRE
Mr. Qian Zhongming® SE{RAF S A0
Mr. Yu Wai Ming RIESEE
Independent Non-executive Directors HUIFNTEE
Mr. Tang Jianrong e Sote
Mr. Qu Weimin BERELE
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk RIZEEEE

Note:

(i) Mr. Qian Yixiang is the husband of Ms. Jia Lingxia and the son of Mr.
Qian Zhongming.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 30 September 2010 in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules and had renewed the
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code which
was adopted by the Board on 15 December 2015. As at 31
December 2024, the Audit Committee had three members, all of
them are Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai
Wai Leuk, Mr. Tang Jianrong and Mr. Qu Weimin. Mr. Lai Wai
Leuk is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Group, to review the Company’s annual report and
interim reports and to provide advice and comments thereon to
the Board, as well as to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors and assessing their independence and performance.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim and
annual financial statements and reports and discussed with
the external auditors on any significant or unusual items before
submitting such reports to the Board, reviewed the relationship
with the external auditors by reference to the work performed
by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement, as well
as reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and associated
procedures. The Audit Committee also discussed the risk
management system of the Company with the management. In
addition, the members of the Audit Committee held a meeting
with the management and the independent professional
accounting firm appointed by the Company relating to the internal
control review matters during the year. The Audit Committee
also actively participated in the internal control review matters
to improve and strengthen the internal control system of the
Company, where necessary.

During the year, two meetings were held by the Audit Committee.
No alternate Director was authorised to attend such meetings
and the attendance record of each Committee member is set out
below:

Name of Committee members

ZEENERR

Independent Non-executive Directors BIHHITESE
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk RIFMTE

Mr. Tang Jianrong BREREE

Mr. Qu Weimin BERSLE

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the Company’s annual results for the year.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 30 September 2010 and had
renewed the written terms of reference in compliance with the
Code which was adopted by the Board on 28 April 2023. As
at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee had five
members comprising three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Wai Leuk, Mr.
Tang Jianrong, Mr. Qu Weimin, Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia
Lingxia. Mr. Lai Wai Leuk is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
Directors and the senior management of the Company, as well
as specific remuneration packages, conditions and terms of
employment for the Directors and senior management, and
evaluating and making recommendations on the employee
benefit arrangements.
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The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Board,
upon the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee with
reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

During the year, one meeting was held by the Remuneration
Committee to review and make recommendations of the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management. No
alternate Director was authorised to attend such meeting and the
attendance record of each Committee member is set out below:

Name of Committee members

ZEEREHE

Independent Non-executive Directors HUIFNTEE
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk RIZEEEAE

Mr. Tang Jianrong e Soten

Mr. Qu Weimin BERELE
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Qian Yixiang SRS

Ms. Jia Lingxia BEEuT

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of
the Group by band for the year is set out below:

EENHFMNIAEZTSL2ZEENER K
B BE - BEERRRURKREENEER -
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FEE 8N BERETIE RN AR R BB R
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HEBRITT —REH LAY TEFERE
HFEe% SZBEeKRBHFESRNBERET
LN

Number of Number of
attendance meeting
H R E = N

—
—

FRRBEZSALESREIEERKENEHS
RN

Number of

persons

Remuneration bands L2 E AEL
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 8
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7c 21,500,000/ 7T 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 10 and 11
to the financial statements.

The objectives of the share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) are to recognise the contributions by certain eligible
participants and to give incentives thereto in order to motivate
and retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group and to provide certain eligible
participants with a direct economic interest in attaining a long-
term relationship between the Group and certain eligible
participants. The Company grants shares to employees to
increase their motivation as the Company grows. Granting
shares also provides incentive for employee retention as well as
alignment with the medium and long-term goals of the Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 30 September 2010 and had
renewed the written terms of reference in compliance with the
Code which was adopted by the Board on 26 August 2013.
As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee had five
members comprising three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Wai Leuk, Mr. Tang
Jianrong, Mr. Qu Weimin, Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia.
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and assessing the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) in compliance with Paragraph J of
Part 1 of the Code. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy is
outlined below.

The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness
of its Board and to maintain the highest standards of corporate
governance. It recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, which can be achieved through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Nomination Committee has the primary responsibility for
identifying qualified candidates to become members of the Board
and Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis, with candidates being considered against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for monitoring
the implementation and reviewing the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee shall review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
on an annual basis and it has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy
during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised eight Directors,
consisting of seven male directors and one female director, which
is characterised by diversity in terms of gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience and skills.
The Nomination Committee was of the opinion that the Board
consisted of members with diversified gender, age, cultural and
education background, professional experience and skills.
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The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. As at 31 December 2024,
65% of the employees are male and 35% of the employees
are female. The Board considers that gender diversity in the
workforce is currently achieved and targets not less than 25% of
the employees are female.

Furthermore, a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) has
been adopted and became effective on 31 December 2018.
According to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee
shall consider the following factors, which are not exhaustive
and the Board has discretion if it considers appropriate, in
assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate regarding
the appointment of directors or re-appointment of any existing
Board member(s): (a) reputation for integrity; (b) accomplishment,
experience and reputation in the business and industry; (c)
whether the proposed candidate is able to assist the Board in
effective performance of the responsibilities; (d) commitment in
respect of sufficient time, interest and attention to the businesses
of the Company and its subsidiaries; (e) diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or professional experience, as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time; (f) compliance with the criteria of
independence, in case for the appointment of an Independent
non-executive Director, as prescribed under the Listing Rules,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time; and (g) any other relevant factors as may be determined
by the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.

In terms of the nomination procedures of the Company, the
proposed candidates will be asked to submit the biographical
information (or relevant details) in a prescribed form by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee shall,
upon receipt of the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the proposed candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is suitable. The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the criteria as set out above. For
the person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company pursuant to
its constitutional documents, the Nomination Committee shall
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of director at the general meeting. The
Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting.
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During the year, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee and the work performed includes reviewing and
making recommendations to improve the structure, size and
composition of the Board. No alternate Director was authorised
to attend such meeting and the attendance record of each
Committee member is set out below:

Name of committee members

ZEENERS

Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTES
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk REMEE

Mr. Tang Jianrong ERESRE

Mr. Qu Weimin BEREE
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Qian Yixiang SRR LA

Ms. Jia Lingxia BEET T

AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Directors’ responsibility

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
the Directors determine as necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to any events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board will
continue to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Internal controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group. The risk
management and internal control systems are reviewed annually.
The internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable
(but not absolute) assurance against material misstatement or
loss, and manage (rather than eliminate) the risks of failure to
achieve business strategies, such risks would include, amongst
others, material risks relating to environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”).
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During the year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal controls procedures of the Group including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, those relating to
the Group’s ESG performance and reporting and their training
programmes and budget and considers the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company effective and
adequate.

Internal audit function

The Internal Audit Department monitors compliance with
policies and procedures and the effectiveness of internal control
structures across the Group and its principal divisions. The
Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee
and ensures the internal controls are in place and functioning
properly as intended.

Also, the Board engaged an external independent consultant
to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems which covered certain material
controls, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls as well as risk management functions during the year.
The assessment report was reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board. No major issue but areas for improvement to
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
have been identified. All recommendations from the external
independent consultant would be followed up by the Group to
ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable period of
time. The Group therefore considers that the internal control and
risk management processes are adequate to meet the need of
the Group in its current business environment.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the year, the remunerations paid and payable to the
auditor of the Company, BDO Limited was set out as below:
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Remuneration paid

Nature of services and payable
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RMB’000

ARETIT

Audit service ZH R 1,440
Other non-audit service E At IEZH RS

— Agreed-upon procedures on interim report  — R EARRE I FEIRF 350

Total 4Bt 1,790
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DIVIDEND POLICY

On 31 December 2018, a dividend policy was adopted by the
Company (the “Dividend Policy”). Pursuant to the Dividend
Policy, the Company may declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) in an
amount representing not less than 25% of the distributable net
profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company
in any financial year, whether as interim and/or final dividends.
The dividend, if any, will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. In
deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, inter alia,
the following factors: (a) the Company’s results of operations;
(b) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;
(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the subsidiaries of the Group; and payment by the
subsidiaries of cash dividends to the Company; (d) the level of the
Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants; (e) any restrictions on payment of dividends
that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders; (f) the Group’s
expected working capital requirements, future expansion plans,
investment plans and future prospects; (g) general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;
and (h) any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or payment of
future dividends under it are subject to the Board’s continuing
determination that the Dividend Policy and the declaration and/or
payment of dividends would be in the best interests of the Group
and Shareholders, and are in compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations and the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association. The Board endeavours to maintain a balance
between meeting Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will
continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/
or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Company may declare dividend in the AGM but no dividend
shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board
may from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the profits
of the Group, and may also from time to time declare and pay
special dividends of such amounts and on such dates and out of
such distributable funds of the Company and as it thinks fit.

The Dividend Policy is posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company established a whistleblowing policy which provide
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group
(e.g. customers, suppliers and other service providers) with
guidance and reporting channels on reporting any suspected
improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the designated person of the Group. All reported
matters will be investigated independently and all information
received from a whistleblower and its identity will be kept
confidential.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company established an anti-corruption policy which outline
the guidelines and standards of conducts in relation to the anti-
corruption and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to
resist fraud, to help the Group defend against corrupt practices
and to report any reasonably suspected case of fraud and
corruption or any attempts thereof, through an appropriate
reporting channel. The Group would not tolerate all forms of fraud
and corruption among all employees and in its business dealing
with third parties.

RELATIONSHIP WITH INVESTORS AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with the Shareholders and investors.
The Board also recognises that effective communication with
investors is the key to establish investor confidence and to
attract new investors. Therefore, the Company communicates
with its shareholders and investors through various channels,
including the publication of interim and annual reports, press
announcements and information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Company continues to maintain regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them informed of
the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. The
Company has regular meetings with the financial analysts, fund
managers and potential investors, and has participated in a
number of investors’ conferences and roadshows organised
by various investment banks since the listing of the Company
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 20 October 2010
in order to enhance the Group’s relationship with the equity
research analysts, fund managers, institutional investors and
shareholders, as well as their understanding of the Group’s
strategies, operations and developments. All discussions were
limited to explanations of the previously published material and
general discussion of information which is not inside information.
The Group continues to strengthen its investors’ relationship by
participating in roadshows and conferences.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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The AGM provides opportunities for the Shareholders to meet
and raise questions to our Directors, the management and
the external auditors. The members of the Board and external
auditors will attend the AGM. The Group encourages all
Shareholders to attend. Shareholders can raise any comments
on the performance and future directions of the Company and
exchange views with the Directors, the management and the
external auditors at the AGM.

In view of the aforementioned various channels of communication
with the Shareholders and investors, the Board considered the
Company’s communication policy conducted during the year
effective.

The 2023 AGM was held on 24 June 2024 and the attendance

BRBFRERTHRRERE  HEE TERE
FONEZBEN G E R AHERER - EEFGKER
SMNERZ BB ERRBERE - ARE
BERERRHFEAE - RRANRKRBFAS
RHEAEAARBRA LKL AHNER R
HEER  FEENMIMNEZBEIZRER

EREREFERRREENTRBEBRE &
EZERR/ARANFRETER Eﬁlﬁﬁﬂl

TECCFREAFAER T _NFERA

record of each Director is set out below: ZHHBERT FEEHESENBERES WM
™

Name of Board members AGM
EERMELE BREEFAE
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Qian Yixiang (Chairman) BRMEE(FE) 1
Ms. Jia Lingxia BEERT 1
Mr. Zha Saibin EBEWEE 1
Mr. Qian Zhongming SR A 1
Mr. Yu Wai Ming RIESRFEE 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE

Mr. Tang Jianrong EREREE 1
Mr. Qu Weimin BERLE 1
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk BRIBEE B 1

Mr. Qian Yixiang, attended the 2023 AGM which was held on
24 June 2024 by telephone conference to answer the questions
from shareholders. The Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company, Mr. Lai Wai Leuk, also attended the 2023 AGM by
telephone conference to answer questions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL CODE

Internal Audit Department

On 1 January 2016, the Company set up the Audit Department
to facilitate the reform of the Company’s procedures. From
August 2016, the audit department has converted into an Internal
Audit Department following the expansion of the function of the
internal control team. The Internal Audit Department is separate
and independent of the operation and management system of
the Group. The upmost responsible officer for internal control and
audit of the Group is the professional staff with internal control
and audit experiences.

The principal duties of the Internal Audit Department are,
according to its own work plan, giving opinions directly to each
relevant (involved) department or its head officer regarding
system improvement, identification of procedural issues, and
requesting for counter feedback. For example, identifying issues
on streamlining and optimising the procedures and systems are
reported to the responsible person of the respective department;
reporting the results of inspection on the execution of quality
system to the operations manager of the respective plant; and
reporting the audit result on significant malpractices to the Audit
Committee. On the other hand, the department also provides
assistance of internal control in respect of audit or streamlining
of working procedure, and directly reports to the relevant
departments or subsidiaries upon their request.

The duties of the Internal Audit Department are as follows:

e To implement and lead the streamlining of systems and
procedures of the Group headquarters and its subsidiaries
according to its work plan;

e To provide assistance to each department in implementing
optimisation of systems and procedures according to its
work plan;

e To conduct audit on the business of the Group and each of
its subsidiaries according to its work plan;

e To assess the formulation and execution of the Company’s
system according to its work plan;

e To inspect, on its own or with other departments, the
abuse of power, incompliance, violation of financial system,
embezzlement, leakage of confidential information, bride as
well as economic crime within the Company;

e To be responsible for the audit or participate in the audit on
the Company’s significant business activities, projects and
material business contracts.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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Procedures on identifying, assessing and managing
material risks

1. Engaging an external independent consultant to conduct
high-level risk analysis once a year;

2. The Internal Audit Department participates in the Company’s
annual high-level strategic meeting and various monthly
business meeting as well as irregular interview with
the management to identify the risks in operation and
management and consider to include the same in the internal
audit plan;

3. If any material risk is found, the Internal Audit Department
shall immediately report to the Board and follow up the
status of the improvement of the matter.

Procedures on reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control system and
resolving material internal control defects

The Internal Audit Department identifies risks by reviewing the
existing system and procedure to determine whether there is any
defect in critical procedures according to the system design and
whether it is reasonably designed.

Further, the department identifies the effectiveness of internal
control through regular and non-regular audit.

Information disclosure system

The Group has an information disclosure system to ensure
the access to and confidentiality of inside information until
consistent and timely disclosure of such information is made. The
system regulates how these inside information are handled and
disseminated, including the followings:

e The designated department reports the information on
potential inside information to the Board, which shall
determine if it is an inside information and timely issue the
same pursuant to the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules;

e [nformation is widely and non-exclusively disclosed to
the public via different ways such as financial report,
announcement and the Company’s website so that its fair
disclosure policy is implemented and disclosed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, an extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”) shall be convened on the written requisition
of one or more members of the Company, at the date of the
deposit of the requisition, holding in aggregate of not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at the general meetings of the Company.
The requisition must specify the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the relevant requisitionist(s) and deposited
by the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionist(s) may themselves convene a meeting provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
2 months from the said date.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

Shareholders must submit a written notice of proposals they
wish to put forward at an AGM or EGM with the detailed
contact information to the Company Secretary by email to ron.
chan@boerpower.com, or by fax to (852) 2545 8083, or by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Unit D, 6th
Floor, Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
within a reasonable time prior to the general meeting so that the
Company will be allowed to meet the notice period to be given
to all the Shareholders as set out below. Detailed procedures
and the notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at an AGM or EGM varies according to the nature of
the proposal. The procedures for the shareholders to convene
and put forward proposals are set out in the notice of the AGM
or EGM and are also available on request to the Company
Secretary. The notice period is set out below:

(i) At least 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include
10 business days) in writing if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company in an EGM.

(i) At least 21 days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in an EGM or any resolution of
the Company in an AGM.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns with contact information of the requisitionists to the
Board in writing through the Company Secretary by email to
ron.chan@boerpower.com, or by fax to (852) 2545 8083, or by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business at Unit D, 6th
Floor, Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are
set out in note 16 to the financial statements. The nature of the
principal activities of the Group has not changed during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in
the sections headed Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis from pages 10 to 27 of this annual
report. Such discussion forms part of this Report of the Directors.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4
of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial results of the Group for the year are set out
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 77 of the annual report.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK1.1 cents (2023: nil) per ordinary share and a special final
dividend of HK1.3 cents (2023: nil) per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2024. Subject to the approval of
the proposed final dividend and the special final dividend by the
shareholders at the 2024 AGM, the final dividend and the special
final dividend will be paid in cash on or around 25 June 2025 to
shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register
of members on 10 June 2025. The final dividend and the special
final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period have
not been recognised as a liabilities at the end of the reporting
period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 26 May 2025 to Friday, 30 May 2025 (both days
inclusive), during such period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2024
AGM of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 pm on Friday, 23 May 2025.

In addition, subject to the approval of the proposed final dividend
and the special final dividend by the shareholders at the 2024
AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 6 June 2025 to Tuesday, 10 June 2025 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining shareholders who qualify
for the proposed final dividend and special final dividend. In order
to qualify for the proposed dividend and special final dividend,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 pm on Thursday, 5 June 2025.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to RMB42,000 (2023: RMB266,000).

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Details of acquisitions and other movements of non-current assets
(including property, plant and equipment, investment properties
and intangible assets) of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 13 to 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 25(c) to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVE

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
was RMB156.0 million (31 December 2023: RMB156.7 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or under the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity and note 25(a) to the financial statements
respectively.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the revenue from the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for 33.1% (2023: 17.8%) of the total
revenue of the Group and the revenue from the largest customer
accounted for 10.3% (2023: 8.2%) of the total revenue of the
Group.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for 15.1% (2023:
21.1%) and 38.4% (2023: 48.8%) of the Group’s total purchases
for the year, respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

DIRECTORS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Directors
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Qian Yixiang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Jia Lingxia (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Zha Saibin® (Mr. Yu Wai Ming as his alternate Director)
Mr. Qian Zhongming

Mr. Yu Wai Ming®

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tang Jianrong
Mr. Qu Weimin
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk

Note:

(i) Mr. Yu was appointed by Mr. Zha Saibin as his alternate Director with
effect from 8 January 2021.

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
at each AGM provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. Ms. Jia Lingxia, the
Executive Director, Mr. Tang Jianrong and Mr. Qu Weimin, the
Independent Non-executive Directors, will retire from their office
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and shall be eligible to offer
themselves for re — election at the forthcoming AGM pursuant to
the Articles.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have been appointed
for a term of three years in accordance with their respective
appointment letters.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered
into any service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors is considered to have an
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed Continuing Connected
Transactions below, none of the Directors or entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the Group’s business to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or related companies was a
party during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the Company’s controlling Shareholders, has confirmed
to the Company of his/its compliance with the non-competition
undertakings given to the Company under the Deed of Non
— competition as defined in the prospectus dated 7 October
2010. The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive
Directors) have reviewed the status of compliance and also
confirmed that all the undertakings under the Non-competition
Deed have been complied with by the controlling Shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

The particulars of the Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees during the
year are set out in notes 10 and 11 respectively to the financial
statements and section headed Remuneration Committee above.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Share Award Scheme was approved by the Board on 17
June 2021 (the “Adoption Date”). The purposes of the Share
Award Scheme are to recognise the contribution made by certain
employees of the Group and to provide eligible employees,
being any employee, whether full time or part time and whether
becoming the employee of the Company before or after the
Adoption Date, of any member of the Group from time to time,
save for those excluded employees as determined by the Board
or the trustee (as the case may be), with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the
Group and attract suitable personnel for the growth and further
development of the Group. The Share Award Scheme involves
existing shares only and no shares is available for issue under
the Share Award Scheme and the Board hopes to encourage
employees of the Group to have, through shares awarded under
the Share Award Scheme, a direct financial interest in the long-
term success of the Group. The Share Award Scheme operates
for 10 years starting from the Adoption Date.

The total number of all the shares purchased by the trustee under
the Share Award Scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued
shares as at the Adoption Date (being 77,376,900 shares) unless
the Board otherwise decides. The maximum number of shares
which can be awarded to a selected employee under the Share
Award Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

The shares granted under the Share Award Scheme are subject
to any vesting period, performance target and purchase price
as determined by the Board from time to time. Subject to the
scheme rules and the fulfiment of the vesting conditions as set
out in the grant notice to each grantee, the shares held by the
trustee shall be vested in the respective grantee, and the trustee
shall cause the shares to be transferred to such grantee on the
vesting date (or as soon as practicable after the vesting date),
in accordance with the terms of the scheme rules and the trust
deed.

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had not purchased any of the Company’s existing shares on the
market for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme.

During the year and up to the date of this report, no shares were
granted or to be granted under the Share Award Scheme. During
the year and up to the date of this report, 4,843,000 shares were
vested and no share under the Share Award Scheme cancelled
or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Award
Scheme. The weighted average closing price of the shares
immediately before the dates on which the awards were vested
was HK$0.151. The details of unvested share awards under the
Share Award Scheme during the year as follows:
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Number of unvested share awards
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Asat  Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled As at
Purchase 1 January during during during during 31 December
Name Date of grant Vesting period price 2024 theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 2024
i
i 3
It =
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Mr. Zha Sabbin -~ 30 December 2023 30 December 2023 to NI 4,000,000 - (4,000,000 - - -
29 December 2024
BEWRE  ZESZF{CAZTR ZE-ZFTCAZTRE i
ZBCRETZAZTAR
Ms. Qian Yiying 30 December 2023 30 December 2023 to Ni 843,000 - (843,000) - - -
29 December 2024
$PEht  ZEICTETCAIR CECCETCACTEE i
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

As at the date of this report, the trustee held nil shares under the
Share Award Scheme. The number of shares available for future
grants under the scheme mandate of the Share Award Scheme
is 57,033,900 shares as at 1 January and 31 December 2024
respectively. The remaining life of the Share Award Scheme
was about 6 years and 3 months. As at the date of this report,
the number of shares that may be issued in respect of awards
granted under the Share Award Scheme during the year divided
by the weighted average number of shares of ordinary shares in
issue for the year is zero.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
or the chief executives of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 55 of this annual
report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

The Directors and chief executives of the Company who held
office as at 31 December 2024 had the following interests in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)) at that date as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code:

EERTHRAEN QA RABEZBER
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Total number  Approximate

of ordinary % of total

Directors Capacity shares held issued shares
2RITRG
BE= 14 BERBERAY HENNBIL
Long position in shares
IR EIFE
Mr. Qian Yixiang Interest of controlled corporation 521,115,0000 67.35
FERROME & REEHEE R s
Ms. Jia Lingxia Interest of controlled corporation 521,115,0000 67.35
BEAEER L MRS EE R s
Mr. Zha Saibin Beneficial owner 12,780,000 1.65
EEWEE BB A
Note: Hist -

()  The 520,815,000 shares were owned by King Able Limited (“King Able”)
and 300,000 shares were owned by Bright Rise Trading Limited, both
companies owned as to 50% by Mr. Qian Yixiang and 50% by Ms. Jia
Lingxia. Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia are thus deemed to be
interested in those shares by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company held any interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company (other than those
held by the Directors and chief executives of the Company) were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial shareholder Capacity

EERR rEEH

Long position in shares

BRI B
King Able Beneficial owner
HEHFRAA EnEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Company had not been notified by any persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) who had
interests or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Boer Smart Technology (Wuxi) Co., Limited (“Boer Smart Wuxi”)
is effectively owned as to 95.55% and 2.67% by Mr. Qian
Haosheng and Mr. Tao Linwei. Mr. Qian Haosheng is the son
of Mr. Qian Yixiang, an Executive Director, the chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer of the Company and one of the
controlling Shareholders of the Company, and Ms. Jia Lingxia,
an Executive Director, the chief operating officer of the Company
and one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr.
Tao Linwei is a family member of Mr. Qian Yixiang and Mr. Qian
Zhongming, an Executive Director of the Company. Accordingly,
Boer Smart Wuxi is an associate and a connected person of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

The Group entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with Boer Smart Wuxi which is subject to the
reporting and annual review requirements set out in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The details of the continuing connected
transactions are set out below:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRET@

The purchase framework agreement with Boer Smart
Wuxi

On 1 December 2022, Temper Energy International, S.L.
(“Temper Energy”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the renewed purchase framework agreement (the
“Purchase Framework Agreement”) with Boer Smart Wuxi
pursuant to which Temper Energy may purchase the intelligent
household equipment from Boer Smart Wuxi for a term of
three years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The
order amount, the terms of delivery and price of the intelligent
household equipment in each order shall be separately
negotiated, entered into, and be performed under separate
purchase order to be entered into between Boer Smart Wuxi and
Temper Energy with such requirements and specifications to be
mutually agreed in writing in accordance with the terms of the
Purchase Framework Agreement.

Pursuant to the Purchase Framework Agreement, the price of
the intelligent household equipment will be priced on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary course of business of Temper
Energy with reference to the prevailing market price of the same
or similar products offered by independent third parties.

The annual caps under the Purchase Framework Agreement are
EUR1,200,000 for each of the years ended/ending 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 respectively. During the year, Temper
Energy did not purchase any intelligent household equipment
from Boer Smart Wuxi (2023: EUR1.2 million (equivalent to
RMB8.9 million)).

Details of the Purchase Framework Agreement are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 6 August 2020 and 1
December 2022.

The Company has complied with the reporting and
announcement requirements under the Listing Rules in respect
of the above contemplated continuing connected transaction
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Since the Group did not
have any transactions conducted under the Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not have to comply with the requirements for annual review of
the continuing connected transactions by the independent non-
executive Directors and the independent auditor of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRETw

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any of the Directors of the Company or an associate
company.

During the year, Directors and Senior Officers Liability Insurance
is in place to provide appropriate cover for the directors and
senior management of the Group. However, such insurance
coverage shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to such director and senior
management.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal control
and financial reporting matters including a review of the annual
results of the Group for the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)
EESRETw

AUDITOR

BDO Limited will retire and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

Qian Yixiang
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

IBDO

TEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{EE : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

HEARATHEEP1115E
JkZH2518

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BOER POWER HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boer
Power Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 152, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZEERE @)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

BREER
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BERNER -

Refer to note 24(b) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 132.

The Key Audit Matter

Deferred tax assets are recognised mainly relating to unused
tax benefits of impairment losses on trade receivables and the
carry-forward of tax losses and tax credits.

The Group considered that it is probable that future taxable
profits according to the business plans and budgets for the
relevant subsidiaries will be available against which these tax
benefits can be utilised.

We identified the recognition of deferred tax assets as a
key audit matter because the realisability of deferred tax
assets, which depend on whether sufficient taxable profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future,
are associated with significant degree of estimates and
judgements.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment about the recognition of deferred
tax assets included:

— understanding and evaluating the
management’s procedures and relevant
controls regarding the completeness of tax
exposures and estimating the provision for
income tax and deferred tax assets to be
recognised.

— reviewing the latest correspondence with
the tax authorities to assess management’s
estimates.

— assessing the probability that the
subsidiaries of the Group may use their
deferred tax assets in the future, particularly
with regard to the ability of each subsidiary
to generate sufficient future taxable profits
in a foreseeable future allowing the use of
existing tax benefits carried forward.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZEENERE

RECOVERABILITY OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 122 to 123.

The Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying value of trade
receivables was RMB592,229,000 (gross trade receivables:
RMB2,222,685,000; allowance for impairment losses:
RMB1,630,456,000), which represent approximately 49% of
total current assets in the consolidated statement of financial
position (2023: 52%).

The Group measures the loss allowance for its trade
receivables at an amount equal to the lifetime expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) using the provision matrix approach.
The provision matrix is determined based on information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
conditions, as well as the time value of money.

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant degree of judgements made by the
management in assessing the impairment of trade receivables
and determining the allowance for impairment losses.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability
of trade receivables included the following:

— obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the Group’s key
internal controls relating to credit control,
debt collection and making allowance for
impairment losses;

— obtaining an understanding of the basis
of management’s judgements about the
recoverability of individual balances and
evaluating the impairment allowances with
reference to debtors’ financial condition, the
industry in which the debtors are operating,
the ageing of overdue balances, historical
and post year-end payment records,
legal documents relating to disputes with
customers, rescheduling of payment agreed
with customers and other relevant information
obtained from other audit procedures;

— assessing the assumptions and estimates
made by the management in development
of the ECLs including considering the
customers’ expected payment pattern along
with macroeconomic information; and

— obtaining a summary of subsequent

settlements relating to trade receivable
balances at 31 December 2024 and
inspecting underlying documents relating to
the payments received, on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZBERE @)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZEERE @)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
B ZEERE @)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the work performed for the purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Shuk Yuen Amy
Practising Certificate No. PO6095
Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FealRarEth2ZElkaR

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HE_ZT-NE+-A=+—BLEFEAAREE)

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR®TT ARETTT
Revenue WA 6 680,276 585,551
Cost of sales SHEMAR 6 (482,754) (419,513)
Gross profit EF 6 197,522 166,038
Other income and gains, net H A R s 58 7 12,767 50,814
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS A (54,334) (54,190)
Administrative and other operating expenses THREMEERT (93,177) (96,760)
Provision of impairment losses for trade and FEW B 5 K Bt BR TR VR B
other receivables EEEE 18(b) (1,003) (2,890)
Profit from operations Gl 61,775 63,012
Finance costs BT Ak AR 8(i) (22,903) (30,343)
Profit before taxation ME RS A 8 38,872 32,669
Income tax expense FTiSFif 9(a) (7,739) (3,812)
Profit for the year F R 31,133 28,857
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEME
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to  H 1% A ¢ & #5358 A IB25H)
profit or loss: ER
Exchange differences on translation of financial & FAH Bl A FEESN
statements of operations outside Mainland ERTBRRAN
China T (21,583) (16,853)
Total comprehensive income for the year FAELEKRAEE 9,550 12,004
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FE(RER/(B18)
Equity shareholders of the Company KA AR R 31,051 28,897
Non-controlling interests R R 82 (40)
Profit for the year F R A 31,133 28,857
Total comprehensive income attributable to: G R E N BEE
Equity shareholders of the Company NS 9,468 12,044
Non-controlling interests FEERE R 82 (40)
Total comprehensive income for the year FAELEKEREE 9,550 12,004
Earnings per share BREAF
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) ERREFTEARESD) 12 4.0 3.7

The notes on pages 82 to 152 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out
in note 25(b).

E82E 152 AWM MR F M B BwmKRH — B
7 BREEFRENOEMN AR R ERRIR
BB R IE B M 5E25(0) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MBIk &
REBME TRt R OUARRIE)

2024 2023

CECNE S

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE ARET T NS S

Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB NG 13 118,975 127,125
Investment properties "B 14 49,592 71,744
Intangible assets B EE 15 1,297 615
Pledged deposits BERFR 19(b) 90,000 170,000
Deferred tax assets ELERIBEE 24(b) 57,722 64,056
317,586 433,540
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 135,118 148,160
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 N E b ARFR 18 623,271 603,126
Pledged deposits BERFR 19(b) 363,538 251,395
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBEEEY 19(a) 85,722 51,322
1,207,649 1,054,003
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings [=3s 20 119,156 192,437
Trade and other payables BB 5 REMERER 21 952,799 829,348
—iin 1,071,955 1,021,785
Netcurrentassets ===~~~ #WBREFE 0 135694 ¢ 32,218
Total assets less current liabilites =~~~ #AZRMHAMR 453280 465758
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Borrowings BE 20 132,500 112,886
Amounts due to related parties FEfT R 3R IE 28(a) 9,042 51,609
. 141,542 164495
NET ASSETS EEFE 311,738 301,263

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continved)

mEMBRRR@®
at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
RZZ-—OF+=—A=+—RA(UAREE)

2024 2023
—E_ME —E=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARET T NS S
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXR#E
Share capital A& A 25(c) 66,010 66,010
Reserves 1 25(d) 246,334 235,941
Total equity attributable to equity RN T ERS R RERER
shareholders of the Company Pk ] 312,344 301,951
Non-controlling interests R (606) (688)
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 311,738 301,263

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
24 March 2025.

Qian Yixiang
F=E g
Director

EF

The notes on pages 82 to 152 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEHREBR

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
(E B NFET A=+ —AIEFEAAREHE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AAARERFERL
Shares  Employee
heldfor ~ share-based Capital Non-
Share  shareaward  compensation Statutory Capital ~ redemption ~ Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BERR LY
REHE  XAHER E150E

BE  GENRG @ MEBR  ERER  RAER i EXER  REW A5 FEREM  BugE
Note RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
Wi ARETR ARETR ARMTR  ARETR  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTR

Balence at 1 Jenuary 2023 AR E-A-RakR 66,010 12.076) - 21473 2143 372 (32,999 75,68 280902 (648) 289,254
Proft for the year EREH - = = = = = = 2897 2897 (40) 28857
Other comprehensive income LhrEhE - - - - - - (16,859 - (16,859) - (16,859)
Total comprehensive income for the year £A2 ERHEE S © ° ° ° ° (16,853) 28,807 12,044 () 12,004
Eouity-setfed share-based transaction  HEBREEHRNZ MRS 3 - 5 - - - - - 5 5
Balonce at 31 December 2003and A= E-ZEF-AZ+-AR

1 January 2024 “E-|mE-R-BAEH 66,010 (12,076) 5 281413 21,436 3n (49,851) 104,582 301,951 (688) 301,263
Proft for the year EREH - - - - - - - 31,051 31,051 8 31,133
Other comprehensive income L2k - - - - - - (21,383) - (21,583) - (21,583)
Total comprehensive income for the year £A2 ENHEE - - - - - - (21,583) 31,051 9468 8 9,550
Equity-setled share-based ransacton RS EHRALHRS 3 - - 925 - - - - - 925 - 925
Vesting ofshares granted under share (£ 5T 7 215 3158

award scheme BEHRG 3 - 90 (930) - - - -
Beance at 31 Decemoer 2024 RoBCMET-RIT-RYes 6010 (11149 - BB 24 WM 1EER MM 66 7R

The notes on pages 82 to 152 form part of these financial $82E 152 H MM iF B ZEF HRERHH—36
statements. e
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FREReRER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HE_Z-_NF+-A=+—HILFEURAREE)

2024 2023
—EONFE e
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE ARET T BN S
Operating activities FE S
Cash generated from operations KEMEARS 19(0) 171,206 230,966
Income tax paid BETSHR (1,405) (2,527)
Net cash generated from operating REERELRESTFHE
activities 169,801 228,439
Investing activities RETE
Payment for purchase of property, HBEVMHE BE&
plant and equipment BGINEN (3,999) (3,754)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets ~ BEJEFZAEMNRK (849) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BE KX
plant and equipment RIBATSROA 3 29
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYMEMERIE
properties 13,515 5,015
Interest received BHFE 7,064 16,595
Placement of pledged deposits BFEABERER (483,451) (500,857)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits RIRAEAER 451,308 358,147
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHBARSFEE (16,409) (124,825)
Financing activities A& EE
Proceeds from borrowings EEFEIHIE 19(d) 296,608 335,259
Repayment of borrowings HEEE 19(d) (350,275) (467,644)
Payment of interest on borrowings EEN AR 19(d) (22,903) (30,343)
Advance from related parties R R 19(d) - 50,527
Repayment of advance from related parties (& RE 5 K 19(d) (42,567) -
Net cash used in financing activities RESEEFTE AR (119,137) (112,201)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash &R ESZEY M~
equivalents (RA) 35 34,255 (8,587)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January A—HF—HWHEER
HEZEY 19(a) 51,322 59,794
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREH /& 145 115
Cash and cash equivalents at R+-A=+—HHERER
31 December HeZEY 19(a) 85,722 51,322

The notes on pages 82 to 152 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 R RO EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BABHBIN  UARKERHE)

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Boer Power Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12 February 2010
as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in design, manufacture and sale of electrical
distribution equipment and provision of electrical distribution
systems solution services in the People’s Republic of China

(the “PRC”).

2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new or amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the

Group:

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current, Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause

e  Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(“2022 Amendments”)

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a

Sales and Leaseback

e Amendments to to HKAS 7, Statement of Cash
Flow and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments:

Disclosures, Supplier Finance Arrangements

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

s -

AAREEHE)

2 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs
(continued)

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material
impact on the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior period.

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention
is to apply these changes on the date they become
effective.

Amendmentsto  Lack of Exchangeability’
HKAS 21

Amendments to Financial Instruments - Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 9 and and Measurement of Financial Instruments?
HKFRS 7

Annual Improvement Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
to HKFRS HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
Accounting
Standards -
Volume 11

Amendments to Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?
HKFRS 18

Amendments to Subsidiaries without Public Accountability?
HKFRS 19

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRS”) and the provisions of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which concern the
preparation of financial statements. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) because the
functional currency of most of the Group’s subsidiaries
is RMB. All financial information presented in RMB has
been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when
otherwise indicated. The measurement basis used in the
preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which

are measured at fair values.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE

—ZZPNFF3R Annual Report 2024

3 wREE

(a)

(b)

BREH
HZEGREMBRERDIREAEERETE
MBHRELER - FEGHELRRE
(T HH BEM B REER DARE
R by e ok VNI CS T PAT 3 e
MmmE o I - ZFLEEMBRRERE
FEMERHPIARARESR EMAR
e BRAKE -

WEER 25EH
ARBNMEEBSET(EIT]) ° &
ERAUBREINARETAREDZ
5 BARBTIAKEAREDHE R T
HMEERH - BRRBEPEI  UAR
B2IHMAMBENEREERED
T ITRT R - MM BREAATER
BERELKAREE - HRAFEFEZ
ETFE&mI AR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 20 years after the date of
completion.

Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

Plant and machinery under finance lease are depreciated
over its useful life being no more than 20 years.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

4 BEAETHRA

(a) M3 - BMEKRRIE(E)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group has elected
to present the ROU assets in “property, plant and
equipment” applying a cost model (see note 4(c)).

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 4(j). Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost
of investment properties, less their residual values, if
any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of 20 years. Both the useful life and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement
of financial position as right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for
an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise ROU assets and lease liabilities for low-
value assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of less than 12 months. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
ROU asset

The ROU asset is initially recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (jii) any initial direct costs incurred
by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

The Group has elected to present the ROU assets in
“property, plant and equipment” applying a cost model.
Under the cost model, the Group measures the ROU
assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(i) Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over
their useful lives as follows.

Software
Trademarks

10 years
10 years
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(continued)
(i) Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts

with their recoverable amounts (note 4¢j)).

(e) Financial Instruments

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition
or issue. Trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the

transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of

principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

s -

AAREEHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at FVOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest
rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

s -

AAREEHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at FVTPL,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL
on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI
are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other
equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R =T @)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables,
financial assets measured at amortised cost and
bills receivable measured at FVOCI. The ECLs are
measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are
ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the

Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation
to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade receivables and contract assets using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-months ECLs. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the
lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criteria is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual or a collective basis. When the assessment
is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when:

e significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or being
more than 90 days past due;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise; or

e it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in “FVTOCI reserve (recycling)”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R =T @)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in

profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the

gross carrying amount.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities
at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

s -

AAREEHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and other payables, borrowings, certain preference
shares and the debt element of convertible loan
note issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R =T @)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)
(v) Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because
a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value
less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECLs provision measured in accordance
with principles of the accounting policy set out in
note 4(e)(ii); and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with the principles of

HKFRS 15.

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets
the criteria for derecognition in accordance with

HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Financial Instruments (continued)

(vi) Derecognition (continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised initially
and measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the
fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part
thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method/first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Revenue recognition

4 BEAETHRA

(9) WARER

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(g) Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i) Intelligent Electrical Management Solutions
(“IEM Solutions”)

IEM Solutions include sale of electrical distribution
systems, Engineering Procurement and
Construction (“EPC”) project, and sale of electricity.
For the IEM projects where a performance obligation
is satisfied over time based on the progress towards
complete satisfaction of a good or service as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced, the revenue is recognised over time. The
progress of completion is measured by reference to
the proportion of the actual cost incurred to date to
the estimated total cost of the relevant contract. For
the EPC projects where a performance obligation
cannot be demonstrated as being satisfied over
time, the revenue is recognised at a point in time
when control of a good or service passes to the
customer. There is generally one performance
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
(g) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Intelligent Electrical Management Solutions
(“IEM Solutions”) (continued)

Revenue arising from sale of electricity is recognised
at a point in time upon the transmission of electric
power to the power grid companies in accordance
with meter readings.

(i) Sale of components and spare parts of
electrical distribution systems

Customers obtain control of the products when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted.
Revenue is thus recognised at a point in time
upon when the customers accepted the products.
There is generally only one performance obligation.
Contracts generally contain no right of return,
warranty and no variable consideration.

(h) Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Income taxes (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or when
they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve relating to that operation up to the
date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part
of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Impairment of assets (other than financial

4 BERETBERA)

() EERE(TEESREERE)

assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

Property, plant and equipment/Investment property
under cost model;

interests in leasehold land held for own use; and
investments in subsidiaries.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash
generating unit.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

(@) Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislations.

In accordance with HK (IFRIC)-Int 23, the Group makes
consistent judgements and estimates for both current
tax and deferred tax. If the facts or circumstances on
which the judgement and estimate was based change or
as a result of new information that affects the judgement
or estimate, the Group reassesses the judgement or
estimate.

EXSTHBEKE)
() EERE(TEESHEE) (H#

EREERIRERPSEEEEENG
AARKRSREETE @ R RS
BENRITHSHEAREERRTE
B ERRORAIRIR R ER
HfE -

TESHHERMEFTIREREN
FERR

FERAEESH RS - EEAR KL
BSOS SRS A A E R B AR
B SIBT 5 RIBER - B WG R
BB 20 T B A A AS R R A k48 7 A B
MR R o EE A B4 RS
it

BERGFRERRRSSEETERN -
HestheHEHEREZEHHHED
ERTEVEIRE - AU % B RER - SiHIER]
[ B &2 B IR B MR KA - RURMERTHIA
KRR I HERR, o

(a) FREHL
EEMRHREIREETIHHARR
HIERRIR(EL A - AREFEEFER
SRMERE - WIS B -
BRRSOHERESEPREREE -
PART RIS R BT E 2 E -

REEE(BRMERERERES) -
BEF 235 - AL AR MR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

(b) ECLs impairment

The measurement of impairment losses under
HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets
requires judgement. In particular, the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral
values when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in
which can result in different levels of allowances.

(c) Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s
financial statements require measurement at, and/or
disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible.
Inputs used in determining fair value measurements
are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique
utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

e | evel 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

e | evel 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other
than Level 1 inputs;

e | evel 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from
market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement (continued)
The Group measures the following item at fair value:

e  Financial assets at FVTOCI.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the item above, please refer to note
26(e).

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s top management for the purposes of allocating
resources to and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of business activities. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the reporting segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, and results include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment,
but exclude exceptional items. Segment assets excluding
deferred tax assets and tax recoverable are managed on
a group basis. Segment liabilities excluding deferred tax
liabilities and tax payable are managed on a group basis.

FTESHHEREFTIRERRN
FERR(E)

(c) DF{ETE(A)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(CONTINUED)

6

The Group has two (20283: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

— |[EM Solutions, which include sale of electrical distribution
systems, EPC projects, and sale of electricity.

— Components and Spare Parts Business (“CSP
Business”), which include components and spare parts
for application on electrical distribution equipment or
the basic function units of the solutions and sells such
components and spare parts to the customers.

Information is presented on the basis of business segments,
segment revenue and results are based on the revenue and
gross profits of IEM Solutions and CSP Business.

WA R 7 &R & (&)

AEEEME(ZF_=F : ME)RED
BB IR EXBRETRER MRS - A
FEBRBESE  #RFoBNERNE
2o AEEE %&%ﬁv‘ﬁBZ%iﬁﬁ% LA

— EMA R BREHERERLS
BARHEES

- EPCTE

- HEREHEHTTHRTHES]
a%ﬁﬂ’éﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬂﬁ‘“ﬁ‘}zﬁxqﬂmgﬁm
BEETHTHRTN - YAEPIHEZX
?—%ﬁ#&gﬁo

BREBDBELEZINERE - DA R
EEDRBEMIT R - THEEHEBH
ARENE

2024 2023
—E-ME ZZZ=F
IEM CSP IEM CSP
Solutions  Business 111l Solutions  Business Total
THER TR
EM5R S#HEK A5t IEYE T st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 [=1Y/ISH0[0/0 NI Y/(=0[0[ R 21\ I2X0[0/0)
ARETT ARETR ARETT NSNS wrN:: S
Revenue LN
Timing of revenue recognition W A FE2 KRS
Segment revenue AEWA 805,056 261,938 1,066,994 702,274 535,886 1,238,160
Inter-segment revenue DI (299,742)  (86,976) (386,718)  (289,138)  (363,471)  (652,609)
Revenue from external RENMIEEZ
customers A 505,314 174,962 680,276 413,136 172,415 585,551
Gross profits EF 147,033 50,489 197,522 125714 40,324 166,038
Depreciation and amortisation TAHEKAAL
included in cost of sales EREH 4,358 5,116 9,474 4,212 5,108 9,320
Interest income from financial RESREENTS
institutions WA 7,051 13 7,064 16,568 27 16,595
Finance costs IHBRA 9,310 13,593 22,903 23,944 6,399 30,343
Income tax expense PEHRX 6,409 1,330 7,739 2,007 1,805 3,812
Segment profit A EE R 58,209 27,740 85,949 58,558 16,128 74,686
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEHAN - UAREEE)
6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6 WARDEBHRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
The reconciliation of depreciation and amortisation included SFAEEXANTERBHESATEN
in cost of sales to consolidated depreciation and amortisation HEERERNOT ¢
is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Cost of sales HERA 9,474 9,320
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 & H fib & @ 2 7,762 9,585
17,236 18,905

The Group does not allocate any specific assets or
expenditures for property, plant and equipment to the
operating segments as these assets are managed on a
group basis and the chief operating decision maker does
not use such information to measure the performance of the
reportable segments.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as
substantially all revenue and gross profit of the Group are
attributable to the PRC.

REEWERDE - BFE K& HED AR
FRIEERAIELEDE  THRZE
BERSBAEETIE HIE“L&mA
WEFEABEEAREEREDHAIKRE -

BARAEBBARI WA RFERNIGHKE F
B - FE B2 50E D BT o

7 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7 Httg AR WRFE

2024 2023

—SE-mE —E =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Interest income from financial institutions KB & BEERNF B U A 7,064 16,595

Refund of value added taxes (“VAT”) BER([IEER R 2,751 2,424

Net gain on disposal of property, HEYME - BE MERWE

plant and equipment R 1 7
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of investment HEREYEN(ER),/

properties s F 58 (3,698) 305

Government grants (note) BT Bh & (BIRE) 4,523 31,231

Others Hith 2,126 252

12,767 50,814

Note: Government grants are all income related and there exists no
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies to these government
grants.

Hrat - BB & B S EE B T FERR RS
R E R A EE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

8 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8 KRHIANGEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB A= R (GEA) -

2024 2023
—EMF T4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

()  Finance costs: () BTGP :
Interest on borrowings and bills payables EERENEENTS 22,903 30,343
(i) Staff costs: (i) BIRA :
Contributions to defined contribution REHRFURKRET SRR
retirement plans 9,508 8,339
Equity-settled share-based payment AR A E MRS S+
expenses (note 23) S (B 5E23) 925 5
Salaries, wages and other benefits e HENREAET 77,696 71,395
88,129 79,739
(i) Other items: (i) EAMbIER :
Amortisation of intangible assets BT A Y 150 165
Depreciation e 17,086 18,740
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A & 1,790 1,800
Short-term lease expenses EHEERY 582 2,512
Net foreign exchange gain HNE YR 2k 5 (47) (438)
Cost of inventories (note 17(b))* TFERAME17(0)) 461,844 365,294
#  Cost of inventories includes RMB48,845,000 (2023: t FERAEEARK4L8,845000(ZF ==
RMB45,772,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation (including F: AR¥45,772,00070) * BETRA - #7
depreciation of the ROU assets) and amortisation expenses, which E(REEREEENE) MEHAIAER %
amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed SRENERBES BN ARG AR E30sk
separately above or in notes 8(ii) and (i) for each of these types of T8 i) B (i) BB B IR FR A% S S SR S A o
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHRBIN  UAREFE)

9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 9
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND B

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive

(b)

income represents:

GeEEREMEEVERTPHMN

(@) meEERAEMEEWERPHH
BA

2024 2023
—EB-MEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Current tax BIHA% 1E
Provision for PRC income tax for the year 45 A/ B A5 51 845 484 586
Under-provision in respect of prior year BEFERETR 921 1,219
Deferred tax ELERIE
Reversal of temporary differences BOgRER 6,334 2,007
7,739 3,812

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

(b) BiIEBA % ERIRIE AR R HA S
A AR

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T AREBT T
Profit before taxation PR AT ) 38,872 32,669
Notional tax on profit before taxation, R AR AL E R A
calculated at the rates applicable in METE R AR T
the jurisdictions concerned B Z &R IE 9,718 8,167
Tax effect of PRC preferential tax FEEEREFBR
treatments (note (i) TR 2 (B & (Gii)) (1,487) (1,014)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A RS & 1,590 1,064
Tax effect of non-taxable income BRI AT 5 2 (2,104) (3,698)
Utilisation of previously tax losses not BB ERMERH
recognised MIBEE (438) (1,286)
Under-provision in respect of prior years 3BT FE BB E 921 1,219
Others Hith (461) (640)
Income tax expense PS5 3 7,739 3,812
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EHAIN -

AAREEHE)

9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands or the BVI.

No provision has been made for Profits Tax in Hong Kong
and Corporate Taxes in Indonesia and Spain as the Group
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax
and did not earn any taxable profit subject to Indonesia and
Spain Corporate Taxes during each of the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

PRC income tax

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, provision for PRC income tax of
the Group is calculated based on the statutory income tax
rate of 25% except for Boer (Wuxi) Power System Co., Ltd.*
(“Boer Wuxi”), which is qualified as High and New Technology
Enterprise, and is therefore entitled to a preferential tax rate of
15%.

Dividends withholding tax

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, dividends receivable by non-
PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises are subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 10%, unless reduced by tax
treaties or arrangements, for profits earned since 1 January
2008. In addition, under the Arrangement between Mainland
China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for
the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal
Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and its relevant
regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident will be liable for
withholding tax at the rate of 5% for dividend income derived
from the PRC if the Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial
owner” and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of the
PRC company. Deferred tax liabilities have been provided for
based on the expected dividends to be distributed from these
subsidiaries in the foreseeable future in respect of the profits
generated since 1 January 2008.

The English translation of the company name is for reference
only. The official name of this company is in Chinese.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024 EHZ-E-N&E+=A

Fees

RMB’ 000
ARBTR

10 EEf 2

EEMEHIIT

Basic salaries, Contributions Equity-settled
allowances to retirement

and other
benefits
Exge
2R

H bR
RMB’ 000
ARBTR

benefit
scheme

BAEN
TR
RMB’ 000
ARBTR

share-based
B
expenses
DY 5
EENRA
%
RMB’ 000
ARETR

At
RMB’ 000
ARBTR

=t-HLEEE

Executive Directors HirgE

Mr. Qian Yixiang BRREE - 194 22 - 216
Ms. Jia Lingxia Bient - 392 - - 392
Mr. Zha Saibin BEWTE - 302 19 764 1,175
Mr. Qian Zhongming BheREA - - - - -
Mr. Yu Wai Ming RESHEL - 776 17 - 793
Independent Non-executive BUFHTEE

Directors

Mr. Tang Jianrong ERRLE 11 - - - 11
Mr. Qu Weimin EEREE 11 - - - 1
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk PRBEAE 11 - - - 11
Total it 333 1,754 58 764 2,909
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRRAEBAIN - UAREEFHE)
10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 10 EEM S (F

Basic salaries, ~ Contributions  Equity-settled
alowances  toretirement  share-based

and other benefit payment

Fees bengfits scheme expenses Total
£15¢ CAiES
2R RN HERRE

e EftEH TR it @t

RMB'O0  RMB'O0  RMB'O0  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARRTR  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ-ZE=-=%£+=R

St-HLEE

Executive Directors HrEE
Mr. Qian Yixiang BRREE - - 22 - 22
Ms. Jia Lingxia Bient - - 16 - 16
Mr. Zha Saibin BEIWRE - - 18 4 2
Mr. Qian Znongming BimREE = = - - -
Mr. Yu Wai Ming RESELE - 761 16 - 777
Independent Non-executive BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Tang Jianrong ERELE 109 = - = 109
Mr. Qu Weimin ERERAE 109 - - - 109
Mr. Lai Wai Leuk REBLE 109 - - - 109
Total st 327 761 72 4 1,164
During both years, no discretionary bonus was paid or PREEENRXN  AEBWED N ERNTE
payable by the Group to any of the Directors. I EBAEA IS IEAL ©
During both years, no amount was paid or payable by the PREEERXN  ANEBWED N ERNTE
Group to any of the Directors as an inducement to join or MEZEEMEAIZIE - EAMNBEARERE:S
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. BAREBERA RS SEAEBME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

10 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

During the year, four Directors waived their emoluments as

10 ESME (A

FA- UEREERERSOME - F#5H

follows:

FIgnR

Basic salaries,

allowances
and other
Period during which the emoluments accrued benefits
BEREFE
EEER
FEST N < HARS H bz Fl
RMB’000
AR%ET T
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Qian Yixiang ERREE 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
—ENF-A—HEZE-NFE+=-A=1+-—H 915
Ms. Jia Lingxia BEEELT 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
—E-_NFE-A—-HEZEBE-NE+=-A=1+-—H 495
Mr. Zha Saibin EEWRE 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
—E-ME-A-BEFE-NFE+=A=+—H 495
Mr. Qian Zhongming ~ $£{HBRE A 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
—E_NE-A—-HE=E-NE+=-A=+—H 887
Total Bt 2,792
Basic salaries,
allowances
and other
Period during which the emoluments accrued benefits
EAFE
=Y N
FEET i< BAfE H At i@l
RMB’000
AREBT T
Executive Directors ~ #77# %
Mr. Qian Yixiang BRMEE 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
E_=F—A—HRE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=1+—H 1,087
Ms. Jia Lingxia BEEBET 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
B —-A—HET-=F+-A=+—H 869
Mr. Zha Saibin BEWRE 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
B —-A—HET-=F+-A=+—H 869
Mr. Qian Zhongming (B %4 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
B —-A—HET-=F+-A=+—H 869
Total 4t 3,694
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

11 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 11 RSEl€ A+

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two hEEEMeATHR  MB(ZEZ=F:
(2023: one) director whose emoluments are disclosed in —B)REE - BENMSRMT105EE -
note 10. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the BTI=H(ZTE_=F : @) ATHB&
remaining three (2023: four) individuals are as follows: AT -

2024 2023
—EMF T4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

Salaries and other emoluments e REARE 3,004 4,014
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes  EKiEFIEH &I 2% 70 87
3,074 4,101
The emoluments of the three (2023: four) individuals with the —R(ZE=F WA maMe ALz
highest emoluments are within the following bands: MlesEmT
2024 2023
—E-_F —E =
Number of Number of
Individuals individuals
AE AEK
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 TLE
1,500,000/8 7T 2 2
3 4
During both years, no discretionary bonus was paid or RREFEA - AEEY &S REAE
payable by the Group to any of the five highest paid M AZHESE A THERBISIEAL -
individuals.
During both years, no amount was paid or payable by RREFEEA - ANEEI &2 ERE
the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as MAZEaMe AT ERRIE - EAN
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BAREENINBENEBRNES SEARR
compensation for loss of office. BE(E -
There was no arrangement under which any of the five EFR A AEZZSMES A T EIR RS
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any RERRERMENEZH( T _=F
emolument during the year (2023: Nil). ) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BRELRZRF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based BREARZFTIRIEA QN A=A R E
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the %R A R#31,051,000c(Z 2=
Company of RMB31,051,000 (2023: RMB28,897,000) £ AR¥28,897,0007T) M ERND 3
and the weighted average of 768,939,000 ordinary 17 % 8 I h0 #E 15 20768,939,000 fi%
shares (2023: 768,926,000 ordinary shares) in issue ZZE =4 : 768,926,000/% ) s+ & 1n
during the year, calculated as follows: N
Weighted average number of ordinary shares LZERMETISE
2024 2023
—E_NF —E =
’000 ‘000
T TFh%
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January MW—H—BBEZETH
RS 773,769 773,769
Effect of shares held for share award RIER D BT EI AR
scheme (note 23) A& 522 (Mi7E23) (4,830) (4,843)
Weighted average number of ordinary Rt+-—A=+—HH
shares at 31 December Tem A INAE 19 8k 768,939 768,926
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) EREHERZF
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during BE_ZT-_NWEER-_ZT-_=ZF+_A4
each of the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, —+—HALEFEVEASEEEHNE
and therefore, diluted earnings per share is the same as B Ak SREER T EERERE
the basic earnings per share. FAER] ©

BEEHEZERERLDT BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED 11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% - BMEREE
Right-of-Use
assets

fREEE
Furniture,

fixtures Prepaid

Plant and Motor  and other leasehold

Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment  Sub-total land Total
fil - %8 L}

g7 HERES nE Rt N RELH it
RMBOOD ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBO0  RMBOOD  RWBOOD  RMBIOD

ARETE  ARETn ARMTR ARMTT ARBTR  ARETn  ARETR

Cost: HA:
At1 January 2023 A S S 187,738 77,942 5,344 21,735 292,759 37,441 330,200
Additions RE - 2,688 795 21 3,754 - 3,754
Disposals e = = 219 - (19 - 219
Written off it = (4 = = (4 = )
At 31 December 2023 and R-B-=F+-A=t-H

1 January 2024 R=Z-ME-A-H 187,738 80,626 5,920 22,006 296,290 37,441 333,731
Addttions HE 182 828 1,044 1,945 3,999 - 3,999
Disposals HE - - (94 - (94 - (%4)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-MFT-A=1-H 187,920 81,454 6,870 23,951 300,195 37,441 337,636
Accumulated depreciation: ZiHiE
At1 January 2023 RZEB-=F-f-H 92,948 68,011 4,684 19,340 184,983 9,053 194,036
Charge for the year ERfE 8,942 2314 192 574 12,022 749 12,771
Written back on disposals HERR - - (197) - (197) - (197)
Witten of sy - o - - n - m
At 31 December 2023 and A\ZE-=E+-B=1-H

1 January 2024 k=E-mE-f-H 101,890 70,321 4,679 19,914 196,804 9,802 206,606
Charge for the year FRing 8,408 2,150 361 479 11,398 749 12,147
Written back on disposals HERE - - (%) - (92 - (92)
A1 Decombar 2024 REBSMETZAST-R 1028 T24m 498 W38 2GM0 10561 28661
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RFET-A=1-A 11,622 8,083 1,922 3,558 92,085 26,890 118,975
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-f=1-R 85,848 10,305 1,241 2,092 99,486 27,639 127,125

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(C
(a)

ONTINUED)

Buildings are situated on leasehold land with medium-
term lease of 50 years in the PRC.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, certain buildings with

(c)

(d)

net carrying amount of RMB52,519,000 (20283:
RMB31,828,000) have been pledged to bank as security
for bank loan (note 20(c)).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in the process
of obtaining the property ownership certification in
respect of certain properties located in the PRC
with net carrying amount of RMB26,172,000 (2023:
RMB27,637,000).

Prepaid leasehold land

The Group’s land is located in the PRC, and the Group is
granted with land use rights for a period of 50 years. As
at 31 December 2024, the land use rights with carrying
value of RMB26,450,000 (2023: RMB27,245,000) have
been pledged to a bank as security for bank loans (note
20(c)).

13 % - BMERKRE(E)

(@) NP EBEE L EEFTEB0F
FREATEAY

b) R—E-_MH&+_-_A=+—8  &&%
BERRTEREETEDFEAAR
52 519,000 (ZBE =4 : AR
31,828,0007T) WIEF + tEAEVEIRTT
BERE A G (B EE20()) ©

(c) A=ZE-_WME+_-_A=+—8  ~&HE
EREMR RS TYERIEYER
EHEE ZEVENEERFEAAR
06,172,000 (ZBE-=F : AR
27,637,0007T) °

(d) EFHEELH

AEBO TR FE MAEE
ERTHERESOFE - R-_T -
F+-AZ+—H8 EEAEAARE
26,450,000 (ZZE = =F : AR
27,245,0007T ) By T {F S IR T
$R1T - {EABEVSIRITE SR I & (Bt
5$20()) °

BEEHEZERERLDT BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14 REWHE

2024 2023
—EB-MEF —EB=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTT

Cost: R

At 1 January n—A—H 115,543 122,457

Disposals HE (29,500) (6,914)

At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 86,043 115,543

Accumulated depreciation: HitinE

At 1 January n—H—H 41,199 37,434

Charge for the year FRITE 4,939 5,969

Written back on disposal i E R0 (12,287) (2,204)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 33,851 41,199

Impairment: BE :

At 1 January and 31 December R—HA—BRK

T=A=T—H 2600 .. 2,600

Net carrying amount: BREFE

At 31 December R+—-—A=+—H 49,592 71,744

(@) The Group’s investment properties consist of residential, (@ AEEREVEBFEMNFBEINHEE
commercial and industrial properties situated in the PERTEME - KEMEETILARK A
PRC. Investment properties are stated at cost less HE%EHEE&})EWEJ%?@?%@W% prA—
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. In ZIF - WEREREB(ZE =4 :
2024, no impairment loss (2023: Nil) was charged to the EIRERLEEMEERESERNGR o
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income.

(o) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group b) 2T -_WF+_-_A=+—HItF
disposed of certain investment properties with net carrying E AEEHEETHREFEAAR
amount of RMB17,213,000 (2023: RMB4,710,000) for #17,213,000C(ZFE==F : AR
proceeds of RMB13,515,000 (2023: 5,015,000), resulting 4,710,00070) )R EWEE - FR1SEIER
in a net loss on disposal of RMB3,698,000 (2023: net gain AR#13,515,000c(ZE=Z=%F : A
on disposal of RMB305,000). R#5,015,0007T) * EAHEEEFE

AR¥3,698,000L( =T ==4 : HE
Wz F 58 A R #5305,0007T) ©

(©) The fair value of the investment properties was © RZE-_MNF+-A=+—0 %5
RMB86,581,000 (2023: RMB114,467,000) as at 31 EMEN LD FERARES6,581,000
December 2024, which is determined by reference T(ZZE == : AR%114,467,000
to comparable sales transactions as available in the JT) HFEJQEFTETJQ%*E R T 5 P 1S
relevant market with adjustments to reflect the condition A B RIHER S (KHAR)BREFE -
and locations of the related properties. VA = BR AR 28 40 € A9 AR K b B o

(d) As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in the ) R—E-_WNF+-_A=+—8 £&EEH

process of obtaining the property ownership certificate
in respect of investment properties located in the PRC
with net carrying amount of RMB7,476,000 (2023:
RMB26,025,000).

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 B EE
Software Trademarks Total
B4 EE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTT ARETET

Cost: AR :
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE_=%F—HF—H 1,190 2,274 3,464
Exchange adjustments FE 5 A% - 134 134
At 31 December 2023 and RZEBEZ=%F
1 January 2024 +—A=+—H8xK

—E-NF—H—H 1,190 2,408 3,598
Addition NE 849 - 849
Exchange adjustments P H A% - (102) (102)
At 31 December 2024 RZZTZUEFE

+—-A=+—8 2,039 2,306 4,345
Accumulated amortisation: Sty
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=9%—H—H 909 1,801 2,710
Charge for the year F B 94 71 165
Exchange adjustments PE H A% - 108 108
At 31 December 2023 and NZE-=4F

1 January 2024 +=ZA=+—8k

—ZE-mF—HF—H 1,003 1,980 2,983
Charge for the year FNE 101 49 150
Exchange adjustments R - (85) (85)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZT P4
s T=AZTCR 1,104 1,944 3,048
Net carrying amount: BREEE
At 31 December 2024 MN-ZTB-mE

+—-—HA=+—8H 935 362 1,297
At 31 December 2023 R-ZT-—=F

+—-—A=+—8 187 428 615

BEEHEZERERLDT BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16 RKE QX THNRE

120

Name of company
NRER

Cheering Success Holdings Limited

TR AR ]

Power Investment (H.K.) Limited
N

BERE(EE)BRAR

Boer Wuxi (note (i)

BEEH(FH)

Boer (Yixing) Power System Co., Ltd.*
(‘Boer Yixing”) (note (i)

BE(ER)ENKEGRARA
(MBEEE]) (M)

Yixing Boai Automation Complete
Sets of Equipment Co., Ltd.”
*Yixing Boai") (note (i))

HAEBNEBKERBERAR
(TEREX]) (M)

Boer Cloud Technology Company
Limited.* (note (i)
BEERBARAR (FH)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation
ML/ R
R

BVI/Hong Kong
iBRuaBs/
B

Hong Kong
i

PRC
G

PRC
G

PRC
G

PRC
G

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
in 2024 and 2023 which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is
ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Particulars of
issued and
fully paid-up
capital
BETRHRE
NS

1,000 shares of
US$1 each
1,000 B
HEIETARA

100,000 shares
or HK$100,000
100,008 3%
100,000

US$71,000,000
71,000,000 7

US$16,250,000
16,250,000%7C

RMB110,000,000
AEH
110,000,0007T

HK$5,983,725
5,983 725/ 7T

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
—ZZPNFF3R Annual Report 2024

TREFIN_F=

BRI EE R

Proportion of equity interest
attributable to the Company
KA RS RAELLSI

2024 2023
—E-QmE

—EC-=F

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

;3 Ef L}

100% - 100% =
- 100% = 100%
- 100% = 100%
- 100% = 100%
- 100% = 100%
- 100% = 100%

MER T - =F%
AEBEE  BEXABEHEEATENN
BARIME - BIBEHRBI - FIEFRHG

Principal activities

IERH

Investment holding

RERK

Investment holding

RERK

Design, manufacture
and sale of electrical
distribution equipment

#it HEREERE
B4

Design, manufacture
and sale of electrical
distribution equipment

#it HEREERE
B4

Design, manufacture
and sale of electrical
distribution equipment

#it HEREERE
B4

Provision of energy
efficiency solutions
SIS



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FERIN - AARIERTE)

16 RIBRRNIRE (F)

(CONTINUED)
Proportion of equity interest
attributable to the Company
Place of Particulars of ARREERRLA
incorporation/ issued and 2024 2023
establishment fully paid-up —E-mE —BC=E
Name of company and operation capital DI EGICIAE  Direct  Indirect Principal activities
HMRL/RY  CRTRER
ARER R BANGEE B R B Bk TEEE
Boer Wuxi Tezhong Electrical Capacitor PRC RMB60,000,000 - 100% - 100% Design, manufacture and
Co., Ltd.* (‘Boer Tezhong’) (note (ij) = ARE sale of capacitors
BHEHEEENEAR 60,000,0007 Hit HERBHEER
BRAR(MBEEE]) (M) 7
Temper Energy International, S.L. PRC 1,317,235 shares - 100% - 100% Trading of components
(“Temper Energy’) H of EUR3.1 each and spare parts
Temper Energy International, S.L. 1,317 2350 &% THREHEE
(ITemper Energy ) HEESABTHRG
Boer (Wuxi) Software Technology PRC HK$50,000,000 - 100% - 100% Development and sale of
Limited" (note (i) H 50,000,000/7T software
BE (RS BHRRERAT FE kAR
(PE())
Boer Power System Jiangsu Co., PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of components
Limited* (note (i) H N and spare parts
EEERES =N (R 10,000,0007T THREHEER
Notes: Kiat -
()  These entities are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in () HEERANPEKIHARETINGBED
the PRC with limited liability. ES

(i)

These entities are limited companies established in the PRC. iy ZEEEANFBKIMNEREMTAT -

The English translation of the company names is for reference only.

The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
ARSI -

(B>

AAREEHE)

17 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

17 78

(a) FEMBMRRKRANEFERSE :

2024 2023

—E-mF —EF=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Raw materials R 17,763 15,089
Work in progress TS 85,072 96,738
Finished goods B2k 32,283 36,333
135,118 148,160

(b) BREXHI T AEBENEFEESHE
DT -

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in
profit or loss is as follows:

2024 2023

“ENEF =5

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFENREE 461,844 365,294
Write down of inventories FEHOR - -
461,844 365,294

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 FEWWE 5 R H AR

2024 2023

—E-MEF —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBT T

Trade receivables (gross) JEWE SRR 4a 5 2,222,685 2,173,631
Less: allowance for impairment losses B ORBERE RS (1,630,456) (1,629,477)
Trade receivables (net) JEWE B IR FE 592,229 544,154
Bills receivable® FEU = IE 9,442 38,604

Prepayments, deposits and TENFHIE - He Rk

other receivables Hoh pE Y ERIE 21,600 20,368
623,271 603,126

L RERBERZEATESARCEERENHE
RITEAZR(RHTE26() °

* Bills receivable represent bank acceptance bills in the PRC which
are measured at FVOCI (see note 26(g)).

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

FERIN - AARIERTE)

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables based on the invoice date and net
of allowance for impairment losses, is as follows:

18 EWE 5 R H AR (&)

(a) FEWE 3 R RER D47
BEEZRHR  BUESREFOKERD
#r(ER#ER B8 RIRRBEEERE)
e

2024 2023
—BomE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Within 3 months TR=MEA 287,904 189,099
Over 3 months but within 6 months BBE=EABTEEAR 111,335 130,050
Over 6 months but within 1 year BENEARTE—F 182,040 195,575
Over 1 year BE—F 10,950 29,430

592,229 544,154

The Group generally grants a credit period of 30 to 90
days to its customers.

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which
case the impairment loss is written off against trade
receivables directly.

The movements in the impairment allowance are as
follows:

AEE-RMERZFRFI0E0HM
ZEH -

(b) R E 5 R AVRE
FE U B 5 BR K A Rk (B 5 1R A B R AT
% BRIEAKEEA T AR KR EHR
FIEANERER - FEULERT - RIRER
1B B E A E S BRI

RERREBOT -

2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

At 1 January n—A—H 1,629,477 1,626,556
Provision of impairment losses B E IR 1,003 2,890
Uncollectible amounts written off W $E~aT U o) & 58 (173) (312)
Exchange adjustments I H 149 343
At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 1,630,456 1,629,477
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a)

(b)

FERIN - AARIERTE)

Cash and cash equivalents are cash at bank
and in hand

19 RERBSEEY

(a) RERBREE/YARTRFRR
&

2024 2023
—EmF —E_=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT

Cash and bank balances* IRE NIRITaERR" 539,260 472,717
Less: Pledged deposits*™ B BEIRE R (453,538) (421,395)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREeEEY 85,722 51,322

* As 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB534,023,000
(2023: RMB466,896,000). Remittance of the RMB funds out
of the PRC is subject to the restrictions under the Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations of the PRC.

** Bank deposits have been pledged to banks for bank loans

(note 20(c)), bank acceptance bills issued to suppliers and

quality guarantee issued to customers.

Reconciliation of pledged deposits to the
consolidated statement of financial position:

* RZ-ZE-—_WME+-_A=+—8 " K£H
NMAREFENRERBITEBAAR
#534,023000T (ZE =4 : ARK
466,896,0007T) ° MHABIRINEHARKES
B B HNE B IR GBI PR B FTAR IR ©

o SRITERARERRITER(ME20() @ @i
EREHMRITALRERATPIEHNER
PR -

b) EERFREFZSHBRRKRY
BR :

2024 2023
—EMMEF —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFIT

Current assets MENEE 363,538 251,395
Non-current assets ERBEE 90,000 170,000
453,538 421,395

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to

cash generated from operations:

19 RERRSEEY(E)

(c) BBIANEAELEFIELENRESM
HER -

2024 2023
“EClmE —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARBTR ARETTT
Profit before taxation BRELADEF 38,872 32,669
Adjustments for: SIS IRIEL AR
- Amortisation of intangible assets — B 8(ii) 150 1656
- Depreciation —E 8(ii) 17,086 18,740
— Finance costs — B AR 8() 22,903 30,343
— Interest income from financial —RESREENFE
institutions WA 7 (7,064) (16,595)
— Net gain on disposal of property, plant ~ —HEWE « BE K&
and equipment BRI TR 7 0] (7
— Net loss/(gain) on disposal of —HEREMER
investment properties B/ (WE)FE 7 3,698 (305)
— Net foreign exchange gain —HNE Yz 558 8(ii) (47) (438)
— Provision of impairment losses for trade  —fEURE 5 R H 18R X
and other receivables AR EBEREE 18(0) 1,003 2,890
— Equity-settled share-based payment —EREENRHN Y
expenses N H 8(i) 925 5
Changes in working capital: HEESEE
— Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERD,/(3Em) 13,042 (12,133)
- (Increase)/decrease in trade and other ~ —JEURE F R H AR
receivables (gm),/ m (21,148) 9,195
— Increase in trade and other payables —ENE S REMER
bl 101,787 166,437
Cash generated from operations REELIES 171,206 230,966
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19 RERREEEY(E)

(CONTINUED)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (d) BEITBEENEELHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFMAEFERE THEENAGE
from financing activities, including both cash and B BEReMIERSEE - MBI
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EXNBEAREREIARRELRE
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or BRAREEGARSRERSAARE
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EHELNEEREZARE -

consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
financing activities.

Amounts due to
Borrowings related parties Total
FEf}
& Ty st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T ARBT T
(note 20)
(tzt20)
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%—-f-H 437,708 1,082 438,790
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRERS
Proceeds from borrowings EBHERTE 335,259 - 335,259
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (467,644) - (467,644)
Payment for interest on borrowings fEEFIBRR (30,343) - (30,343)
Advance from related parties BEH B - 50,527 50,527
Total changes from financing cash flows RERLREE AT (162,728) 50,527 (112,201)
Other changes: Hitg
Interest on borrowings (note 8() EEF8 (Frizs() 30,343 - 30,343
Tooterchenges ... AtR9e® e e
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 WZE-=F5+-fA=1-H
“Z-NFE-A-H 305,323 51,609 356,932
Changes from financing cash flows: AERERESE
Proceeds from borrowings EEMEIE 296,608 - 296,608
Repayment of borrowings BRES (350,275) - (350,275)
Payment for interest on borrowings EEFERT (22,903) - (22,903)
Repayment of advance from related parties BEBEHZT - (42,567) (42,567)
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSREL (76,570) (42,567) (119,137)
Other changes: Hit#g
Interest on borrowings (note 8(j) EEF S () 22,903 - 22,903
Total other changes AthE e 22,903 - 22,903
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-WE+-A=+-H 251,656 9,042 260,698

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

20 BORROWINGS

(a)

(b)

(c)

20 B &

As of the reporting period, the analysis of the (@) BZEE2HB R - EEREES W
carrying amount of borrowings is as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-MmEF =5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Bank loans RITER
- secured —HE 250,381 302,710
— unsecured — A 1,275 2,613
251,656 305,323
As of the reporting period, borrowings were (b) BE2HEK - EEEBEEWNT :

repayable as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETTT
Within 1 year or on demand —FANIZENR 119,156 192,437
After 1 year but within 2 years —FERERENRN 47,500 1,386
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBRBRFNR 85,000 111,500
251,656 305,323

As of the end of the reporting period, borrowings ) BEE2HUKR  EEAUTEEHE

were secured by the following assets:

K

2024 2023
=F-ME —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREF T

Property, plant and equipment WE - R MR
(note 13(b)) (B3E13(b)) 52,519 31,828
Lease prepayments (note 13(d)) TERTEEFRIE (M FE13(d) 26,450 27,245
Pledged deposits (note 19(a)) HEIRF R (FI3E19(0) 140,000 200,000
218,969 259,073

At 31 December 2024, the effective interest rates of the
borrowings of the Group were in the range from 1.5% to
4.35% per annum (2023: range from 1.5% to 4.65% per
annum).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B REHI - LARKE)
21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 ENESZREMER

2024 2023
—EMEFE it =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

Trade payables BB SRR 77,740 69,925
Bills payable FERT % 845,100 729,651
Trade and bills payables BN E SRR REE 922,840 799,576
Other payables and accruals HAbfETRIB R EETE R 29,959 29,772
952,799 829,348
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be FRBENE 5 R AMBRRIEHR —F AL
settled within one year. B °
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of REFRAR  ENBEIEFREENERR
trade and bills payables is as follows: DT -

2024 2023
—ElEF —E_=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARBT T

Due within 1 month or on demand —{@ B AR HIE IR E Sk 292,446 120,926
Due after 1 month but within 3 months —1{E A& =18 AR E A 374,800 222,000
Due after 3 months but within 6 months —{EBA%&E/EAAEIH 255,594 456,650

922,840 799,576

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R =T @)
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

22 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate
in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”) organised by the PRC municipal government
authorities whereby these PRC subsidiaries are required to
make a contribution at rates from 19% to 20% (2023: 19%
to 20%) of the eligible employees’ salaries to the Scheme.
The Group has accrued for the required contributions which
are remitted to the respective social security offices when
the contributions become due. The social security offices are
responsible for making the benefit payments to the retired
employees covered under the Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

The employees under the Group’s Spanish subsidiary
are regulated by law to participate in the State Pension
Scheme. The State Pension Scheme is part of the social
security system in Spain which is governed by the Ministry of
Employment and Social Security of the Spanish Government.
The Group and the employees are required to make
mandatory contributions towards the State Pension Scheme
at rates of 31.98% and 6.47% (2023: 31.9% and 6.45%),
respectively, of the employee’s relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of EUR4,720.85 (2023:
EUR4,495.10). The minimum contribution period to qualify
for the retirement benefit is 15 years, with a full pension
attainable after 38 years (2023: 37 years and 9 months) of
contribution.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of pension benefits beyond the contributions described
above.

22 EERKEF

REMFENRETE

RIS RS TRAI RSAF - RNAFH
FEMBAREZLNAPETRFE DK
SRR TEE SRR EFFTEI([ZEE) -
Bt ZEHENBARAKSERES
FE19%E20% (T == : 19%=20%)
MZETEEH MR - AEEE REREIHE
BRSdeRERSNERMNNER - 1
SREBEEERZTERETHRKES
SER] o

REETRIEE B8 BB S EHED
BEXEBERBEHEENEERMEESIE
PIESFTE([aE25T8)) - BHESFTE
EBHBYSZEATENRERIEKRT
gl o RIFRESHE  EXRHEESE
ARFEMER - EREREEEBAKAN
5% ' METNS B E A A8 A 30,0004 7T
B _EBR o mogtE e E EIEL KA &
BEBAL -

ANEE R TR B A R E B IRAHIIR
E2HBEFENRESHE - BRERSF S
BEBRTFHLSREEBEZNES X5 - A
MEAMLSREBRAMTRFTEE -
AEBREREFTHERRNSTSE A
Sl BERES R AEEEFBRA
#)31.98% K 6.47%( ZE - =4 : 31.9%
56.45%) A BHBAES ABBKRA
4,720.85 T (=B = =4 : 4,070.108T)
BER - FEBRREFNNRERRFEE
154F » IMEFB8FE(ZE =4 : 37FZ9
A BB EEERE -

AEERR EXFT B HERIN - RBRER
MRS ELEELBEANRE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

23 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was
approved by the Board on 17 June 2021 (the “Adoption
Date”) under which shares of the Company may be awarded
to selected employees in accordance with its provisions. The
Share Award Scheme operates for 10 years starting from the
Adoption Date. The maximum number of shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Share Award
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued shares as at the Adoption Date (being 7,737,690
shares).

A trust has been set up and fully funded by the Company for
the purpose of purchasing, administrating and holding the
Company’s shares for the Share Award Scheme. The total
number of shares purchased by the trustee under the Share
Award Scheme must not exceed 10% of the issued shares as
at the Adoption Date (being 77,376,900 shares).

Movement in the number of shares held under the Share
Award Scheme is as follows:

23 K17 R RS
EEgN T - —FRXATEBRHESR
B 1) #E 6 B fn s2 B At &) (1 B fp 22 B =t
g1 - Bt ARE IR AR B RFR
TREFNES - IR EIMERER
HEHRME RSB TF - RIFWD LR
T &I R+ — & A B Al [ — 2
BERBHRMNEE LR - TEBEENEK
MBEEIE BITAR1DEN1% - BN7,737,690/% A%

,f/'\ ®

ARBERI ARG  XHZEFLTEH
HE - ABE  ERMSEEERND KB
SRR R ARG - ZFEARERD EE
AEBENRO AT GHRERABHE
BITROEV10% - BN77,376,900/ /%15 ©

RIERD REN T A MRMEE ZHHn
™

2024 2023
bt 1 —To=4F
Number of Number of

shares held Amount shares held Amount
FERGEA <8 WiEiGEE G|
’000 RMB’000 ‘000 RMB’000
TR ARYT T Fhx ARBTT
At 1 January Mn—A—H 4,843 72,076 4,843 72,076
Shares vested during the year — FRFEMN KD (4,843) (930) - -
At 31 December W»t+—A=+—H - 71,146 4,843 72,076
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

23 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) 23 R REEHEI(E)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no shares were
granted or to be granted to any directors or employees of
the Company (2023: 4,843,000 shares), the shares were
vested on 30 December 2024. Details are as follows:

Number
of shares
Grant date Vesting date awarded

154
RG#E
000

TR

30 December 2023 30 December 2024 4,843
ZE-=F+ZH=1H —E-ME+=A=1+H

BE_T-_NF+_A=1—

BIEFE -

BERARREAEE RO FE KRG
ZE =4 : 4,843,000 8% 17) - &%%
ﬁaﬂ_?_m¢+ A=+H8%

BT

Number of Average
shares fair value
vested per share

53] =
R#®E  FHAVE
000 RMB
T ARM

(4,843) 0.208

Equity-settled
share-based
payment
expense
recognised
in 2024
R-E-mF
BRI R
EENRED
X%t
RMB’000
ARBT T

925

The fair value of the shares awarded on the grant date was
determined by reference to a number of factors including the
market price of the Company’s shares.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Company had not purchased any of the Company’s existing
shares on the market for the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme.

24 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

REL BHERBROOAFELISLEARR

AR ESEZHERNRETE °

B2 _NWFER=-_FT =

=f+=-H

Zt+—BItFE » ARBEWEIR 2ZE
SHEIRTS LB EARR TR ARG -

24 GEPBRRRPIIE

S5

(a) FEMBRR R P BB IR ¢

2024
— RS

RMB’000
AR®TR

Provision for PRC income tax R ATS R -

2023
=%
RMB’000
ARET T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

24 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Deferred tax assets recognised:

(b)

Movement of each component of deferred tax

assets

The components of deferred
the consolidated statement of

tax assets recognised in
financial position and the

movements during the year are as follows:

24 GEMBRRKRPHFAES (F)

CREZIELEBIREE !
EEHEEERERINEE

FRDRERE M BEAN K T HERELT
HIEEER D REBHINT

Provision for  Unrealised
impairment profits of
oftrade intragroup Tax losses
receivables sales recognised Total
EHESZ SERAR
RRFURE R ER B
Deferred tax arising from: EEEERE B AEREN BEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARKTT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—H—H 57,272 1,512 7,279 66,063
Credited/(charged) to profitor ~ #1E25ET A/ (30%)
loss (note 9(a)) GEEE) (1,962) 6 (51) (2,007)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-fA=1+—
1 January 2024 Bk=—Z-_mF—A—H 55,310 1,518 7,228 64,056
Credited/(charged) to profitor B2t A/ (F1%)
loss (note 9(a)) (Ffi3E9(a)) (7,300) (580) 1,546 (6,334)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZE
+=-A=+—-H 48,010 938 8,774 57,722
(c) Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (c) RERWELEHREEE

As at 31 December 2024,

deferred tax liabilities

in respect of temporary differences relating to
undistributed profits of RMB1,423,692,000 (2023:

RMB1,382,431,000) were

not recognised as the

Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that those
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

(d)

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
4(h), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
of RMB183,714,000 (2023: RMB15,464,000) in respect
cumulative tax losses as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised

will be available in the relevant

tax jurisdiction and entity.

All of these tax losses will expire within 5 years under the

current tax legislation.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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Ko BEHEFIAREE,423,692,0007T( =
T—=F: AR¥1,382,431,0007T)F
AN EREENEERBA G RERE
R BERRARRHESZSH B AR
REECR - WRAZERFERTERR
RAEHEITHIR o

RERNWELERIEEE

BRIEM AN FTED ISR - A%
B3 Rt RE R IEE B ERIELERIEE
EARMA3,714,000c( — - =4 :
AR®15,464,0007T) © REZBER
BT A AR & B RS S 1] AR IR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

AAREEHE)

(B>

B -

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s

2BEX - RERERE
(a) EHBOHEH
AN 5 F0 5 7 & AR B Y R AR
HERBN RS BB BR - ARAER

consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated DD NENEF RS FIEHT
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes m
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
The Company YN
Shares Employee
heldfor  share-based Capital
Share  shareaward compensation  redemption Exchange Retained
capital scheme reserve resenve reserve profits Total
BEES  NEE
SEH iOER RAE :
k& BENRG HegE ffe B REEA it
Note RMBI000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000
s ARETT  ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R=F==£-8-A 66,010 (72,076) = 312 (41,585) 156,443 109,164
Total comprehensiveincome A2 ENELE
forthe year = = = = 1563 25 1,788
Equity-sefted share-based WERESHRN
fransacton FUBY, A - - 5 - - - 5
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+-F=1-8
1 January 2024 e 66,010 (72,076) 5 3n (40,022) 156,668 110957
Totd compretensieincome ~ ERZANHATE
for the year - - - - 2,331 (690) 1,647
Eauity-setiled share-based WEREERNRN
transaction 125 P4 - - 925 - - - 925
Vesting of shares granted under BTN 4B 2GR
share award scheme BRLRS 3 - 930 (930) - - - -
At 31 December 2024 RZZZREFA=1-H 66,010 (71,146) - 3n (37,685) 155,978 113,529
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25 EX - RERKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Dividends (b) B2
The Directors now recommend the payment of a final EERERUEEZ E$+ ﬂ
dividend of HK1.1 cents (2023: nil) per ordinary share Er=[E JJ:&E/TL'RH?EHN % &
and a special final dividend of HK1.3 cents (2023: nil) BRAABUW(ZZE =4 : ﬂ)&%ﬁu
per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 REARZ B tHx BEASB (==
December 2024. The final dividend and the special final F ) o REBFRERBEIRA KR EARL
dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period B AF R R AR B 0 £ 4E 2 3R AR R I#RR
have not been recognised as a liabilities at the end of REE-

the reporting period.

(c) Share capital (c) &=
Details of authorised and issued share capital are as FEERBBITIRAFIBOT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—EmF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET AT
Authorised: JETE
2,000,000,000 shares of 2,000,000,0000% &%
HK$0.1 each E{E0. 1B TAI (D 200,000 200,000
Par Number of Nominal value of
value shares ordinary shares
HE ROHE LEREE
HKS$ ‘000 HK$'000 RMB’000
BIT T THr ARETT
Issued and fully paid: BEZFTRHE -
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%F
and 31 December 2024 + A=+—HXk
—EoEF
+=—HA=+—H 010 773,769 77,377 66,010
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

s -

AAREEHE)

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Shares held for share award scheme

Shares held for share award scheme comprised
shares purchased and held which will be awarded
to selected employees in accordance with share
award scheme.

Employee share-based compensation reserve

Employee share-based compensation reserve
represents the fair value of employee services in
respect of share granted to certain employees of
the Group.

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the PRC, the
Company’ s subsidiaries established and operated
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their
after-tax-profit (after offsetting prior year losses) as
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend to
equity owners.

The statutory surplus reserve can be used to
make good prior years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into capital provided that the balance
after such issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

25 E7 -

RERRE (&)

(d) REOEER AR

@

(i1)

(iii)

REBER O RBABFEORE
RIBRAD BT BB R B4
RIBRAD BT &S B R EE T
EEMBERFANRD -

LR 2 N RS M &

PARC D XA RO B B N & A HE B 1R
TAKEETRERENERNDERENE
BIRFFHIRFE

EEME
REBFBIERRE - NRAIRFE
PSR S T B A BB E AR IR
PR R R ORI E MIBR TR
a2 EFERIRR)H10%
BELEERHFHE  BEERHBER
ERGEMEARS0% /I - BAR
RIS A 7 IR AR B B 2 ok
e

ETEBBFE R AR EAEEE
MEE(A)  YAEARA - B8
BITRNEHTB I NEME AR
25% °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

25 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(e)

(iv) Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprised the excess on
transfer of equity from non-controlling interests
in Boer Yixing, Boer Wuxi and Yixing Boai over
purchase considerations prior to 1 January 2011.

(v) Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal
amount of the shares repurchased.
(vi) Exchange reserve
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of operations outside the PRC.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Company defines “capital” as including all
components of equity. The Group actively and regularly
reviews and manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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(d)

(e)

RENTERAE(E)

(iv) EXRREE
EXFERERBERTE  §HE
5 & B EE A FEE R i e e R Y
BB —_ZT——F—A—HAWE
BERERERE -

(v) EXREERZE
BARBLOIFHEEEBROMEE -

B 5
PE 3 B R R B T B INEH R
SRR AMEEN—LIINEZR -

(vi)

BEXERE
AREEREARNBRRENEERE
WARBRIBS AR S EREE - {KME
BERERKFETNEREERAGE
RAERORE - ESEBIR MEM
MEARRE SR E e M o

ARBBIERIEESBIEEDABE
7 o AEETESGNERHEARREET
e NEE - WRREERENZ(CEH
BARRRBIELHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R R M )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. These
risks are limited by the Group’s financial management
policies and practices.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and bills receivable. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

As at 31 December 2024, except for credit impaired
balances with gross amount of RMB1,616,698,000 that
have been assessed individually, the Group measures
loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases.

26 IR KRER
AEERERENEE  RPHES - FIER
HNERBKEEAAEEMBEEY - HZAE
6 I\ 7S £2 1B () B 75 1 3 IR SR A 101 o A R
) o

(a) EERBS
AEBHEERBEIEREHEWRE S
BRRNERERE - EREESIEEER
R UHEERZESEERR -

R-ZE-_NMFE+—-A=+—8 KL
5 A AR ¥1,616,698,000 7T K 1E B R
ERRREDETEBIFEIN - REEER
HEREEFERZ EHEESENE
H(HEEBVERBREERTEST)
FFEEWE SERFRNEEREE - ANA
EEBRENEEBEBRERIT AR TRAR
FRMEBEAZEZEEERN - A
EERTRZFHTRNEEREETE
ANk — T D ©

BEEHEZERERLDT BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2024 — = — PR

137



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26 BEEMERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERBR(E)
The following table provides information about the TRIBEHARANEERE 5 ERFIERT
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade HENEERRETEHEEEENE
receivables: o
2024
—E-MEF
Gross Expected
carrying loss rate Loss
amount (%) allowance
AR A (%) BEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARET T
Within 3 months ARZ=EA 290,812 1% 2,908
Over 3 months but BB={EA
within 6 months BREAEA 113,607 2% 2,272
Over 6 months but within 1 year — #38/5E BTN E—F 190,618 4.5% 8,578
Over 1 year (note) tEE— (M) 1,627,648 83%-100% 1,616,698
2,222,685 1,630,456
2023
B
Gross Expected
carrying loss rate Loss
amount (%) allowance
HHEER
BERTE (%) EEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Within 3 months TR=EA 191,009 1% 1,910
Over 3 months but BiE=1EA
within 6 months BREAEA 132,704 2% 2,654
Over 6 months but within 1 year  #B:@/XEFERE—F 204,791 4.5% 9,216
Over 1 year (note) HEE— (M) 1,645,127 75%-100% 1,615,697
2,173,631 1,629,477
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is based on the B 5 EUERIE 2 BRE DT T AN B =
invoice date. HAfEH -

Note: ECLs at 0% — Collaterals have been obtained from certain Kl - Aot ATHESEEER - EEK
customers, and typically comprise properties and land. No BETELPNEHS  —MeEwER
impairment loss is provided for the debtor balance when the T o KR REES P ERERRZ 4
collateral has a value greater than the debtor balance. - e Y EWEE A REELR RIE

EE R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtor is
updated.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables are disclosed in
note 18(a).

Bank acceptance bills endorsed to its suppliers
which are not yet due as at 31 December 2024 were
amounted to RMB685,650,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB664,700,000). These bank acceptance bills were
derecognised by the Group (the “Derecognised Bills”).
In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have
a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of
the Directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The Derecognised Bills generally have
maturity dates of 180 days, and the Group in general
endorses the bank acceptance bills equivalent to their
face value. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills are not significant.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 1.5%, 5.8% and
3.7% (2023: 1.1%, 1.9% and 3.8%) of the total
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest
customer, the five largest customers and largest debtor
as at 31 December 2023. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position after deducting any impairment allowance.

26 YK EAREE(HE)

(a) FERE(H)

BHEBERXDENBERAFNERER
REATE - RFLRTIEHE - URBR
52 BUB WS SR AEEAOR - AT
N AN [ R M TR IR TR A AR A AR
IR ER RN ER - EEETH
T“J DR - AR E B ANERE
PR ER

JEUE 5 R B BRE: D AT A M 3£ 18(a)
HEE o

RZE-—NF+-_A=+—HBETE
#t ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁtﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁ
B AR685,650,000T( B =4
+=ZA=+—8: }\Eﬁtﬁem,?oo,ooo
TL) c A ERITEAREBEERAERR
IFER([RIEEREE]) - IRIBEREHE
BoE o WP BRITEY - RIEERER
BEAFEAAEERIER(FESR
H]) BEERE  ~EBCERARER

IHFERZBRNB AR B2 R M E 3, -
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HIFEREEMNEEAEE A1808 -
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EREE - BERR - AEERESH
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WE S ERFRAREER1.5% * 5.8%%3.7%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

R EENEE )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

SN AAREFHE)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management at the Group level

As at 31 December 2024, even though the Group had
net current assets of RMB135,694,000, its short term
bank borrowings amounted to RMB119,156,000 while
the Group maintained its cash and cash equivalents of
RMB85,722,000 only.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern for at least the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting period
and to meet its obligations, as and when they fall due.
Certain measures have been and are being taken to
manage the Group’s liquidity needs and to improve its
financial position which include, but are not limited to,
the following:

(i) the controlling shareholders, Mr Qian Yixiang and Ms
Jia Lingxia, have undertaken to provide continuing
financial support, including not to recall the amounts
due to them of RMB9,042,000 until the Group is
able to repay its other creditors in the normal course
of business;

(i) the Group has renewed several loan facility
agreements with the controlling shareholders
and their related parties with an effective period
of 2 years. The loans are non-current, unsecured
and non-interest bearing. As at 31 December
2024, the Group’s unused loans facilities were
RMB938,083,000;

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
—“ZEUFFEH  Annual Report 2024
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(b) FRENVE SR B

SEEARBESRREE
RNR-ZTE-_WE+=-_A=+—8 " &
EAEBENRHEEFEAARKE
135,694,0007C * BHEHRITEE
B AREA119,156,000 7 © AN £ H
EHRFEASIASEEMAARE
85,722,0007T °

ENZEFHEN  ARREZCHAZE
AEBARRORBE S KRR NEAH
BR2WR AR RE R B A
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FRIAFEF BN - BRERETRR
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() TERRRREREERMEEREAE L L
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SEEEMT I ERERRBIEFEER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity risk management at the Group level
(continued)

(i) as at 31 December 2024, the unused bank loans
facilities were RMB104,681,000 for providing
additional working capital to the Group; and

(iv) during the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group has renewed its short term bank borrowings
of RMB196,080,000 and obtained new borrowings
of RMB55,576,000. The Directors of the Company,
based on their ongoing discussions with the
Group’s bankers, expect the Group’s bankers to
renew the existing bank facilities as they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Liquidity risk management at the entity level

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the Board/management of the
entities. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

26 YK EAREE(HE)

(b) RBE SR (F)

SEEEADECRARER(A)

(i) RZFE-_ME+_HA=+—H"
RERARTERBEABARK
104,681,0007C * 1EZAR & B REINE
BEESHR R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26 MR ERE (&)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REVE SR ()
Liquidity risk management at the entity level EEEmADECRRER(HF)
(continued)
The following table presents the remaining contractual TR AEBE S REBER2HRERD
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the TR B LRI ERHAMR - 1t THRE A 4R IT
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on BN (BEESHOFRFENF
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest BRZ)EAEEBEEEHAREENR
payments computed using contractual rates) and the FHREEE -

earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

2024
ZECmE
Total More than More than
Carrying contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
amountat  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than

31 December cash flow on demand PATEI 5years
R+=A af
=t-A AFRERE E -E0E MENL
NEAEE hESE REX  ERENR BRENA
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  ARMTR  AR¥T:R

Borrowings B8 251,656 258,451 110,643 50,033 97,781
Trade and other payables EREHREMER 952,799 952,799 952,799 - -
Amounts due to related parties EfEERE 9,042 9,042 - - 9,042
1,213,497 1,220,298 1,063,442 50,083 106,823
2023
—EICE

Total More than More than
Carrying contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
amountat  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
31 December cashflow  ondemand 2 years 5 years

RT=A &4

=t-R AREEE R FHE RENE
WhEE  REAR BREX  ERFNR ERFNA
RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOOO
ARETR  ARETL ARBTL ARETR  ARETR

Borrowings EE 306,323 319,223 193,992 1,440 123,791
Trade and other payables ERESREMER 829,348 829,348 829,348 - -
Amounts due to related parties B EEHTE 51,600 51,600 - - 51,600

1,186,280 1,200,180 1,023,340 1,440 175,400
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s
interest rate profile is set out below:

26 MR ERE (&)

(c) F=Ep
AEEZHERRBEBREEMESL -
EEBMBEN 2 EEFAEETEAT
ERERER - AEBRMERE 0
™

2024 2023
“EoE —TC=F

Effective Effective

interest rate Interest rate
per annum RMB’000 per annum RMB’000
BEBRERE ARETT GG SN Sy

Fixed rate instruments: FEIA:

Borrowings BE 1.5%-4.35% 251,656  1.5%-4.65% 305,323

(d) E¥ =
RRAEE T BERNPEETT - &A%
BWXZEBUARENE  MARK
T AR RIBAINE - FRESRARK
MINER FHTEBDEARBITHE
SR B EHNE A HETT - SMNER
PR R A rh B A RRTTETEREY
PER (X BHEHITRE)

(d) Currency risk

As the Group’s principal activities are carried out in the
PRC, the Group’s transactions are mainly denominated
in RMB, which is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. All foreign exchange transactions involving
RMB must take place through the People’s Bank of
China or other institutions authorised to buy and sell
foreign exchange. The exchange rates adopted for
the foreign exchange transactions are the rates of
exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of China that
are determined largely by supply and demand.

The Group currently does not have a policy on foreign 7R 5 B3R By I A L R R\ B SR ERR
currency risk as it had minimal export sales in the year FREBRAFERA/NELOHEE - M
and the impact of foreign currency risk on the Group’s SNERBREASEAHERNTED
total sales is minimal. i o

EEERHASEEE_T_NFER

Z_=F+_A=+—HIERAFET
SHRBEERERR

The management does not expect that there will be any
significant currency risk for the Group for both years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
(e) Fair value

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value. The fair value of these financial assets and the
valuation techniques are as follows:

Fair value at 31 December

RTZA=t-BHATE

Fair value
Financial assets 2024 2023 hierarchy
SREE bl T —F  QATEER
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT EONST
Bills receivable 9,442 38,604 Level2
EUEE £

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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26 BRI EIE(E

(e) AFE
AREME T LMEETRDFEH
& - RESRAEN DT E R E R

o
Valuation
techniques Key inputs
HERN TZHAHE
Face value Fair value of bills receivable
A approximates to their carrying

amounts (i.e. face value of bank
acceptance bills), as the Group

in general endorses the bank
acceptance bills equivalent to their
face value.
ARARE-RESRSHEER
WBTRAEE - JEREENA
TRAEEABERTELTELN
HE)EE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

L E S TEL ST )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

27 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount and fair value

of financial assets and liabilities:

Year 2024
Financial assets

27%@%%%%@@ﬁ§&§%%%

#:

—EComEF
SREE

TRETEREERAENEAERRF

Financial Financial
assets at assets at
FVOCI - debt amortised
instruments cost
RAFERTA
Hh 2 HE s bi7g: 1]
ZEREE— A5 Bk
EH¥TH ZERERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T AR¥T T
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BRR - 592,229 592,229
Bills receivable e 9,442 - 9,442
Financial assets included FEATF IR B E A FE
in deposits and other REMECREE
receivables - 14,740 14,740
Pledged deposits BEMFHK - 453,538 453,538
Cash and cash equivalents B RhIBESESEY - 85,722 85,722
9,442 1,146,229 1,155,671
Financial liabilities cRIAE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
IRz S REE
RMB’000
AR%T T
Trade payables BT E S BRI 77,740
Bills payable FEST 845,100
Financial liabilities included ST AE At FE < FRIE
in other payables and accrual BT ERNESRERE 29,959
Borrowings BE 251,656
Amounts due to related parties FE(SHREE S SR 9,042
1,213,497
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

27 SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 27 BERETHNEMEEREENE
LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) E(E)
Year 2023 —_E-=
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
FVOCI - debt amortised
instruments cost Total
BEAFERA
Hib 2 mlzs bieg: i
ZERMEE— B AR
BEEITH L EREE HRET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETIT ARETT

Trade receivables FEWE Z R TR - 544,154 544,154
Bills receivable e 38,604 - 38,604
Financial assets included FTATE R E A FE UL

in deposits and other REMECREE

receivables - 12,938 12,938
Pledged deposits BEMFHR - 421,395 421,395
Cash and cash equivalents BHENMIREEEBY - 51,322 51,322

38,604 1,029,809 1,068,413

Financial liabilities SREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R SHR AR

TRz SR B E

RMB’000

AR¥ET T

Trade payables FERE SIRM 69,925

Bills payable JERT R 729,651
Financial liabilities included ST AE i FE - FRIE 2

in other payables and accrual ErrEANEmEsE 29,772

Borrowings EBE 305,323

Amounts due to related parties FETR8E 5 518 51,609

1,186,280
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
R =T @)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

SN AAREFHE)

TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors are
of the view that the following parties are related parties of the

Group:

*

Name of party
oLy et

Mr. Qian Yixiang

BRMEE

Ms. Jia Lingxia

BAERL

King Able Limited (“King Able”)

MERRAR(HE])

Wuxi Boer Power Instrumentation
Company Limited* (“Wuxi Boer”)

EHEEENERAERAF
(MEHEE 1)

Bright Rise Trading Limited
(“Bright Rise”)

EABSHBERAR(MES])

Boer Smart (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Boer Smart”)

BEE(EE)BRAF
(MEEEEE])

Boer Smart Technology (Wuxi)
Co., Ltd.* (“Boer Smart Wuxi”)

EH B (ES)BRAQF
([EEEE])

Shanghai Changcheng Construction

Development Company Limited*

(“Shanghai Changcheng”)
FERBERFAEARAA

(I g 1)

28 FEFEARS

BE_T_NF+_A=t—HILFE
EERA/TNINE T RAKERRERTT

Relationship

B&

Controlling shareholder and Director

ERIRRFES

Controlling shareholder and Director

ERIRRFES

Immediate parent of the Group which is 50% owned by each of Mr.
Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia

AEBMNEREART  AEBRMAEREAEX T EBHB50%HE
93.34% and 6.66% beneficially owned by Mr. Qian Haosheng, the
son of Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia, and Mr. Tao Linwei,
a family member of Mr. Qian Yixiang and Mr. Qian Zhongming, a
Director, respectively
DRBHBERAEE(BEBRMEEREEELL 2R F) BB ALE
(BRRAEEREERTALEZREKRE)BEEERI3.34%Ea K
6.66%

50% owned by each of Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia

HERMEERBEEZEL LR BHEA0%ER

50% beneficially owned by each of Mr. Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia
Lingxia

HERMAEERELZEL LR BERERS0%ER

95.55% and 2.67% beneficially owned by Mr. Qian Haosheng and
Mr. Tao Linwei, respectively
DRIRER TR MR B EH95.55% m K 2.67% s

33.5%, 16.5%, 46.67% and 3.33% beneficially owned by Mr. Qian
Zhongming, Mr. Qian Yixiang, Mr. Qian Haosheng and Mr. Tao
Linwei, respectively

DRIMEMBASE BRMLE BEALTERMBALEESH
B33.5% s © 16.5% €55 * 46.67 % [ 3.33% 4 55

The English translation of the company names is for reference only.
The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28 TEFERIRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial assistance from related parties (a) REBERS 2B KRB
In addition to the related party information disclosed br EiliiRFE  BE R B RN - AEEK
elsewhere above, the Group and the Company entered RABEIM Y FEEBERIRS o

into the following material related party transactions.

() Transactions i X%
Cash advances from related parties A S IRE BN
2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E=F
Name of party RMB’000 RMB’000
BT RE ARMT T ARETTT
Ms. Jia Lingxia BEBRL 50,527
Settlement of cash advances from related parties
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EC=F
Name of party RMB’000 RMB’000
o] yap St ARMT T AREF T
Ms. Jia Lingxia BEEn+ 42,567 -
Net outstanding amounts owed to related parties BERBER 2 REERIEFE
2024 2023
—E_NF —E =
Name of party RMB’000 RMB’000
o) yap Rt AR¥T T ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Ms. Jia Lingxia EABEL LT 9,042 51,609
(i) Loans from related parties (i) BEFEXR
Loans facilities granted from related parties HEESTE T EREE
Pursuant to several loan facility agreements RIEBER(EAERD)HBAEE
renewed in 2024, the related parties as lenders (VE%EH)E’\_?_EiE%ﬁE’];&
and the Group as borrower, loan facilities were HEREEHZ  ~EEERER
granted to the Group for its general working capital REFE—REEESRS -
purposes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B>

B -

AAREEHE)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial assistance from related parties

(continued)
(ii) Loans from related parties (continued)

28

Those loans are all unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable according to the terms of

FEBRERIRS (&)
(a) REBBER 2B R (&)

(i) BBELER(A)

ZEEFY REER - T ERA

R IRREE

agreements.
Name of party 2024 2023
BBLnE 8 “EoME —To=F
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Ms. Jia Lingxia and BROMTE RMB500,000,000 RMB500,000,000
King Able EASUTRAE and US$1,393,000 and US$1,393,000
AR ARE
500,000,000 500,000,0007¢T
%1,393,000% 7t  J%1,393,000% 7T
Ms. Jia Lingxia FAERT HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000
2,000,000 7T 2,000,000/ 7T
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Mr. Qian Zhongming BRI RMB300,000,000  RMB300,000,000
and Wuxi Boer BRREER AR ARE
EHEE 300,000,000 300,000,0007T
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Ms. Jia Lingxia and BRRLE  BAS RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000
Bright Rise LT RiER AR ARE
100,000,000 100,000,0007T
Boer Smart BERR RMB35,000,000  RMB35,000,000
AR ARE
35,000,000 35,000,0007¢T
(i) Unused loans facilities (i) REAERFRE
2024 2023
ZEINE —TC=F
Name of party RMB’000 RMB’000
BB LnE 8 AR%T T ARBTT
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Ms. Jia Lingxia and BRI
King Able BAENLTREE 503,083 460,132
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Mr. Qian Znongming and #3050 4 « S{heR% 4
Wuxi Boer NEHEE 300,000 300,000
Mr. Qian Yixiang, Ms. Jia Lingxia and BROASAE
Bright Rise BEEERTRER 100,000 100,000
Boer Smart EEE5 35,000 35,000
938,083 895,132
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(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial guarantees received from related

parties

At 31 December 2024, borrowings amounting to
RMB38,000,000 were guaranteed by Mr. Qian Yixiang,
Ms. Jia Lingxia and Shanghai Changcheng (2023:

RMB74,800,000).

(c) Transactions with a related party

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the transactions for the year with a

related party are as follows:

Continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”):
— Purchase from Boer Smart Wuxi

(note (i)

He

28 TEMEARS (H)

(b)

(c)

FERERS(EXH
R &S LA
(T LAl

BRI RAAELD 2MBRR

R-ZBE-WE+-"A=+—0" AR
#38,000,000(ZBE-=4F : AR
74,800,0007T) 2 fEE RS ML E -
BEBELL R EBRBIERER -

- ZBESHRS
BRANGGE B RREMM T ARES
S FRE-ZEEFTETHNR S0
T

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKET T AREF T

R

- 8,857

Notes:

()  Pursuant to the renewed purchase framework agreement
dated 1 December 2022, during the year ended 31
December 2024, Temper Energy did not purchase any
intelligent household equipment from Boer Smart Wuxi (2023:
EUR1,155,000 (equivalent to RMB8,857,000)).

(i)  The above transactions were conducted in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed by both contract parties with

reference to market prices.

BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED EEEHERERAE
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BERBELG S BHE-T-NF+=
B=+—HI1LFE ' Temper Energyilf
WEHEEEESRBEERAER (=T
Z =4 1,155,000 T (HERARE
8,857,0007T)) °

(i) ERARZIHRATNEHELETERER
TEBRRGETT -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

28 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 10 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 11, is as

TERELRS ()

(d) TEEE A SEEN
REBEFESERABFM(BENE0
B T AR R EEN S EEIA KM
HIABEESNFETESFMNES
RIEEE)IT

follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT
Contributions to defined contribution AEHEFERIRET B3R
retirement plans 247 251
Equity-settled share-based payment AR EE RN
expenses (note 23) S (FEE23) 764 5
Salaries, wages and other benefits e - FREAmER 8,380 7,129
9,391 7,385

(e) The Listing Rules applicable to connected
transactions

The transactions with a related party Boer Smart Wuxi
in note (c) above constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
the Report of the Directors.

(e) EBARBEXRZ KN LMmRA

MR () FrEk LR E A T E S fe R
MR ZHEK ETHRANE14AZFRTATR
MERSHTIFERER S - LTHBIE
AEFBEENEREHERNESSR
EFERERS | —f -

BEEHEZERERLDT BOER POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2024 — = — PR

151



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B IS R 2R M=t )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B=BHBIN - UARKERHE)

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 29 AR A HMBMIR T

THE COMPANY
2024 2023
ZEWEF —EB_=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt aE ARBET T AREET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries M@ ARMEAE 6o 39,997 89,997
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries TEUHI B A B IE 83,601 80,726
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H e IR 5 5
Amounts due to related parties FEASTREE 5 FUR 10,064 9,761
e 10069 9,766
Netcurrentassets ~~ #Bp®E®€@ == 0 73532 70,960
NET ASSETS BEEFE 113,529 110,957
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE 25(a)
Share capital A& 7 66,010 66,010
Reserves S 47,519 44,947
TOTAL EQUITY e 113,529 110,957

30 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Directors consider
the immediate parent of the Group to be King Able Limited
and the ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Mr.
Qian Yixiang and Ms. Jia Lingxia. King Able Limited is
incorporated in the BVI and does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

30 HIFERARRKERS

R —FR T -_=F+-_A=+—
A ZEZRAAEENERTRRIRAS
E &R H R AEE AR AR EER
MWMEEREEERL - BBHRAA IR
EERLHSEMKY - WEREY SR

e YN E
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